

Mathematics, Physics, and Computer Science Faculty Articles and Research Science and Technology Faculty Articles and Research

10-15-2024

# Scaled Global Operators and Fueter Variables on Non-zero Scaled Hypercomplex Numbers

**Daniel Alpay** 

Ilwoo Choo

Mihaela Vajiac

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.chapman.edu/scs\_articles

Part of the Algebra Commons

# Scaled Global Operators and Fueter Variables on Non-zero Scaled Hypercomplex Numbers

# Comments

This article was originally published in *Advances in Applied Clifford Algebras*, volume 34, in 2024. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00006-024-01347-6

## **Creative Commons License**



This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 License.

Copyright The authors

Advances in Applied Clifford Algebras



# Scaled Global Operators and Fueter Variables on Non-zero Scaled Hypercomplex Numbers

Daniel Alpay, Ilwoo Cho and Mihaela Vajiac\*

Abstract. In this paper we describe the rise of global operators in the scaled quaternionic case, an important extension from the quaternionic case to the family of scaled hypercomplex numbers  $\mathbb{H}_t$ ,  $t \in \mathbb{R}^*$ , of which the  $\mathbb{H}_{-1} = \mathbb{H}$  is the space of quaternions and  $\mathbb{H}_1$  is the space of split quaternions. We also describe the scaled Fueter-type variables associated to these operators, developing a coherent theory in this field. We use these types of variables to build different types of function spaces on  $\mathbb{H}_t$ . Counterparts of the Hardy space and of the Arveson space are also introduced and studied in the present setting. The two different adjoints in the scaled hypercomplex numbers lead to two parallel cases in each instance. Finally we introduce and study the notion of rational function.

#### Mathematics Subject Classification. 30G35, 46E22.

**Keywords.** Hypercomplex, Reproducing kernel, Global operator, Scaled quaternions, Rational functions.

#### Contents

- 1. Introduction and the Algebra of Scaled Hypercomplex Numbers
- 2. Conjugates, Their Properties, and a Theory of Functions
  - 2.1. The Regular Matrix Adjoint \*
  - 2.2. The Adjoint  $\circledast$
  - 2.3. The Adjoint [\*]
  - 2.4. Spaces of Functions on  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$

D. Alpay thanks the Foster G. and Mary McGaw Professorship in Mathematical Sciences, which supported his research.

This article is part of the Joint topical Collection of Advances in Applied Clifford Algebras and Complex Analysis and Operator Theory in honor of Frank Sommen, edited by Paula Cerejeiras, Hendrik de Bie, Tao Qian, Irene Sabadini, Danielle Struppa, and Adrian Vajiac.

<sup>\*</sup>Corresponding author.

- 3. The Scaled Global Operator for Scaled Hypercomplex Numbers
  - 3.1. The Gleason Problem Associated to the  $V_t$ -Operator and the  $V_t$ -Fueter Variables
  - 3.2. Left Regular Functions on  $\mathbb{H}_t$  Where  $t \neq 0$  in  $\mathbb{R}$
- 4. Hardy Space and Interpolation for the First Conjugate  $\circledast$ 
  - 4.1. Prelude
  - 4.2. The Hardy Space in One Variable: Case 1
  - 4.3. Interpolation in the Complex Case
  - 4.4. Blaschke Factor and Interpolation: Case 1
- 5. Hardy Space and Interpolation for the Second Conjugate [\*]
  - 5.1. The Hardy Space in One Variable: Case 2
  - 5.2. Star Product and Blaschke Factor
- 6. Arveson Space, Blaschke Factors and Related Topics
  - 6.1. Reproducing Kernel Krein Spaces of  $V_t$ -Fueter Series
  - 6.2. Blaschke Factor ( $\mu_t$  Variables)
- 7. Rational Functions
  - 7.1. Prologue
  - 7.2. Rational Function: Power Series in  $q_t$
  - 7.3. Rational Functions for Fueter Variables

Appendix A. Pontryagin and Krein Spaces

Appendix B. Pontryagin and Krein Right  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$ -Modules References

## 1. Introduction and the Algebra of Scaled Hypercomplex Numbers

In the case of  $\mathbb{H}$ , the skew-field of quaternions, generated on the real numbers by 1, i, j, k with the usual Cayley table, a global operator G was defined in [28] as:

$$G_q = (x_1^2 + x_2^2 + x_3^2)\frac{\partial}{\partial x_0} + (ix_1 + jx_2 + kx_3)\left(x_1\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} + x_2\frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} + x_3\frac{\partial}{\partial x_3}\right).$$
(1.1)

In [15], the related operator,

$$V_q = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_0} - \frac{1}{ix_1 + jx_2 + kx_3} \left( x_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} + x_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} + x_3 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_3} \right), \quad (1.2)$$

(which we still name "the global operator") was studied extensively by two of the co-authors (together with Kamal Diki). In particular new Fueter-type variables associated to  $V_q$  were found and analyzed, and Fueter-type expansions were given for smooth functions in its kernel.

In recent works [3–5,7,8], the space of quaternions was extended to a family of spaces indexed by the real numbers, and, for  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , these papers

introduced and studied the scaled families of rings  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$  of  $\mathbb{C}^{2\times 2}$  matrices, with elements of the form:

$$q_t = \begin{pmatrix} a \ tb \\ \overline{b} \ \overline{a} \end{pmatrix}, \quad a, b \in \mathbb{C}, \ t \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(1.3)

When t = -1 one obtains the matrix representation of the skew field of quaternions, while the case t = 1 corresponds to the matrix representation of the ring of split-quaternions. In the latter case (t = 1), hyperbolic numbers correspond to real a and b.

In the present paper we first extend the results of [15] to the scaled family of rings mentioned above, interpolating from the space of quaternions to the one of split quaternions. Then we study counterparts of the classical Hardy space in the present setting. An important new point with respect to the previous work [15] is the appearance of Krein spaces (as in [17]).

We now review the definitions and main results of the scaled-hypercomplex algebras introduced in [3–5,7,8]. We start with the first definition of the space  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$  as above, with two equivalent characterizations to follow:

**Definition 1.1.** Let  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . The space of scaled hypercomplex numbers is:

$$\mathcal{H}_{2}^{t} = \left\{ \left( \frac{a}{\overline{b}} \frac{tb}{\overline{a}} \right) | a, b \in \mathbb{C} \right\}.$$
(1.4)

This space is an algebra over the field of real numbers, with the usual addition and multiplication of matrices.

In another characterization we will see that  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$  becomes a real vector space.

Remark 1.2. We note that  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$  is not closed under the usual matrix conjugation when  $t \neq \pm 1$ , since

$$q_t^* = \begin{pmatrix} \overline{a} & b \\ t\overline{b} & a \end{pmatrix} \notin \mathcal{H}_2^t \tag{1.5}$$

if  $t \neq \pm 1$  or if  $b \neq 0$ .

One can define two natural adjoints (or conjugations) associated to (1.4), and which leave  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$  invariant, namely

$$q_t^{\circledast} = \begin{pmatrix} \overline{a} & -tb\\ -\overline{b} & a \end{pmatrix} \tag{1.6}$$

(that is, the adjugate matrix of  $q_t$ ) and, see (2.21),

$$q_t^{[*]} = \begin{pmatrix} a \ t\bar{b} \\ b \ \bar{a} \end{pmatrix}. \tag{1.7}$$

See [4,5,7] and [8]. We note that these two adjoints are contravariant (see Lemma 2.1 and Lemma 2.17)

$$(q_t p_t)^{\circledast} = p_t^{\circledast} q_t^{\circledast}$$
 and  $(q_t p_t)^{[*]} = p_t^{[*]} q_t^{[*]}, \quad p_t, q_t \in \mathcal{H}_2^t,$ 

are involutive, and commute:

$$\left(q_t^{\circledast}\right)^{[*]} = \left(q_t^{[*]}\right)^{\circledast} = \left(\begin{array}{cc} \overline{a} & -t\overline{b} \\ -b & a \end{array}\right).$$

It is therefore not possible to obtain another involutive contravariant from iterated compositions of these adjoints.

It is easy to see that  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$  is ring-isomorphic to the ring  $\mathbb{H}_t$  defined below.

**Definition 1.3.** Let  $\mathbb{H}_t$  be the space of elements of the form:

$$q_t = a + bj_t, \quad a, b \in \mathbb{C}[i], \tag{1.8}$$

where  $i, j_t$  and  $k_t = i j_t$  satisfy the generalized Cayley laws, induced by the matrix multiplication in Definition 1.1:

7	1	i	$j_t$	$k_t$
1	1	i	$j_t$	$k_t$
i	i	-1	$k_t$	$-j_t$
$j_t$	$j_t$	$-k_t$	t	-ti
$k_t$	$k_t$	$j_t$	ti	t

Writing  $a = x_0 + x_1 i$  and  $b = x_2 + x_3 i$  we have that the ring  $\mathbb{H}_t$  is the vector space over  $\mathbb{R}$  of elements of the form:

$$q_t = x_0 + x_1 i + x_2 j_t + x_3 k_t, \quad x_0, \ x_1, \ x_2, \ x_3 \in \mathbb{R}.$$

$$(1.9)$$

We will often in this paper pass from one representation to the other and denote both of them by  $q_t$ .

We now introduce a third equivalent definition, where scaled hypercomplex numbers are seen as pairs of complex numbers. For an arbitrarily fixed non-zero scale  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , and  $q_t = a + bj_t$  as in (1.8), we write the corresponding pair of complex numbers  $(a, b)_t$  and we define the scaled multiplicative operation  $\cdot_t$  on  $\mathbb{C}^2$  induced by the multiplication of matrices as:

$$(a_1, b_1)_t \cdot t (a_2, b_2)_t \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (a_1 a_2 + t b_1 \overline{b_2}, a_1 b_2 + b_1 \overline{a_2})_t.$$
(1.10)

As proven in [4,5] the space of pairs  $(a,b)_t$  forms a unital ring with unity (1,0), where + is the usual vector addition, and  $\cdot_t$  is the operation (1.10) above.

We will use these three definitions interchangeably, whenever each becomes more convenient to describe the associated differential theory, spaces of functions, domains of holomorphy and so forth.

Observe that, if

$$a = x_0 + x_1 i$$
 and  $b = x_2 + x_3 i$ 

are complex numbers with  $i = \sqrt{-1}$  and  $x_0, x_1, x_2, x_3 \in \mathbb{R}$ , and  $(a, b)_t \in \mathbb{H}_t$ , with some abuse of notation, we have that the realization of  $(a, b)_t$  is identified with:

$$q_t = a + bj_t = (a, b)_t = \begin{pmatrix} a \ tb \\ \overline{b} \ \overline{a} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} x_0 + x_1 i \ tx_2 + tx_3 i \\ x_2 - x_3 i \ x_0 - x_1 i \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (1.11)

We then identify the basis elements using:

$$q_{t} = x_{0} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} + x_{1} \begin{pmatrix} i & 0 \\ 0 & -i \end{pmatrix} + x_{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & t \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + x_{3} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & ti \\ -i & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
(1.12)

and we obtain:

$$1 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} = (1, 0)_t, \quad i_t = \begin{pmatrix} i & 0 \\ 0 & -i \end{pmatrix} = (i, 0)_t,$$

and

$$j_t = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & t \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = (0, 1)_t, \quad k_t = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & ti \\ -i & 0 \end{pmatrix} = (0, i)_t,$$

in  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$ , which means that every element  $q_t$  of  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$  is expressed by

$$q_{t} = x_{0} (1,0)_{t} + x_{1} (i,0)_{t} + x_{2} (0,1)_{t} + x_{3} (0,i)_{t},$$

for some  $x_l \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $0 \le l \le 3$ , (as seen in [4,5,7]).

The  $\mathbb{R}$ -basis  $\mathbf{B}_t = \{(1,0)_t, (i,0)_t, (0,1)_t, (0,i)_t\}$  satisfies the following properties in the Cayley table of  $\mathbb{H}_t$ , i.e.:

$$i_t^2 = (-1,0)_t = -1, \quad j_t^2 = t (1,0)_t = t = k_t^2,$$
  

$$i_t \cdot j_t = k_t, \quad j_t \cdot k_t = -ti_t,$$
  

$$k_t \cdot i_t = j_t, \quad k_t \cdot j_t = ti$$
  

$$j_t \cdot i_t = -k_t, \quad i_t \cdot k_t = -j_t.$$

Remark 1.4. From now on we write i rather than  $i_t$ , meaning that we view the ring  $\mathbb{H}_t$  containing a fixed copy of the complex numbers.

When t = 1, that is, the split quaternion case, we have

$$q_1^{\circledast} = \begin{pmatrix} \overline{a} & -b \\ -\overline{b} & a \end{pmatrix}$$
 while  $q_1^{[*]} = \begin{pmatrix} a & \overline{b} \\ b & \overline{a} \end{pmatrix}$ 

With  $i_1, j_1, k_1$  corresponding to t = 1, and using the notation (1.8), one has  $q_1 = a - bj_1$  and

$$q_1^{\circledast} = \bar{a} - bj_1$$
 and  $q_1^{[*]} = a + \bar{b}j_1.$  (1.13)

The latter case was the one considered in [17].

When t = -1, that is, for the quaternions, we have

$$q^{\circledast}_{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \overline{a} & b \\ -\overline{b} & a \end{pmatrix}$$
 and  $q^{[*]}_{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} a & -\overline{b} \\ b & \overline{a} \end{pmatrix}$ 

Here  $q_1^{\circledast}$  corresponds to the usual quaternion conjugate, and  $q_1^{[*]}$  leads to new directions in analytic quaternionic theory. With i, j, k corresponding to t = -1, one has  $q_{-1} = a + bj$  and

$$q^{\circledast}_{-1} = \overline{a} - bj = \overline{a + bj} = \overline{q_{-1}}$$
(1.14)

(since bj has a zero real part) corresponding to classical quaternionic analysis, while

$$q_{-1}^{[*]} = a - \bar{b}j = a + \bar{b}j.$$
(1.15)

As just mentioned a few lines above, the corresponding theory is new in quaternionic analysis.

The paper consists of seven sections and two appendices, of which this introduction (Sect. 1) is the first. In Sect. 2 we introduce the algebra of hypercomplex numbers, their conjugates, and properties, as a well as an introduction to a theory of functions on these spaces.

In Sect. 3 we introduce the scaled global operator  $V_t$  in this case and introduced a new set of Fueter-type variables associated to this operator. In the same section (Sect. 3) we also build parallel theories of regular functions using these new variables (see Definition 3.1) and the previously introduced Fueter-variables associated to the scaled Fueter operator (see Definition 3.6).

In Sect. 4 we introduce and describes Hardy spaces with respect to the conjugate  $\circledast$ , define the Blaschke product in this case and discuss the interpolation problem in this context, while in Sect. 5 we do the same for the [\*] conjugate.

In Sect. 6 we build the associated Averson space related to the new scaled Fueter variables associated to the scaled global operator, while in Sect. 7 we establish the premises of a theory of rational functions in this case. Both of these sections are further developed in works that the authors are currently in a preliminary stage of completion.

For clarity, we also write Appendix A and Appendix B, to remind the reader of the concepts and properties of Krein and Pontryagin spaces, as they apply to our work.

#### 2. Conjugates, Their Properties, and a Theory of Functions

In this section, as mentioned in the introduction, one can see that  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$  is not closed under the usual matrix conjugation as in (1.5) when  $t \neq \pm 1$ , unless  $t \neq \pm 1$  or  $q_t$  is a real scalar matrix. However, as in (1.6) and (1.7), one can define two natural adjoints (or conjugations, or conjugate) associated to (1.4) which leave  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$  invariant, namely

$$q_t^{\circledast} = \begin{pmatrix} \overline{a} & -tb \\ -\overline{b} & a \end{pmatrix} \qquad q_t^{[*]} = \begin{pmatrix} a & t\overline{b} \\ b & \overline{a} \end{pmatrix}$$

These conjugates lead to different theories, see [4,7] and [6] respectively. On the other hand, just as for the usual \*-matrix conjugation, we have:

**Lemma 2.1.** The two new conjugates are contravariant with respect to the matrix product (or, equivalently the product  $\cdot_t$  in the representation of the ring in terms of pairs).

*Proof.* For the first conjugate we have with 
$$q_t = \begin{pmatrix} a & tb \\ \overline{b} & \overline{a} \end{pmatrix}$$
 and  $p_t = \begin{pmatrix} c & td \\ \overline{d} & \overline{c} \end{pmatrix}$ ,  
 $(q_t p_t)^{\circledast} = \left( \begin{pmatrix} a & tb \\ \overline{b} & \overline{a} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} c & td \\ \overline{d} & \overline{c} \end{pmatrix} \right)^{\circledast}$ 

$$\begin{pmatrix} ac + tb\overline{d} \ t(ad + b\overline{c}) \\ c\overline{b} + \overline{a}\overline{d} \ t\overline{b} + \overline{a}\overline{c} \end{pmatrix}^{\circledast}$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} \overline{ac} + t\overline{b}d & -(c\overline{b} + \overline{a}\overline{d}) \\ -(ad + b\overline{c}) \ ac + tb\overline{d} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} \overline{c} \ -td \\ -\overline{d} \ c \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \overline{a} \ -tb \\ -\overline{b} \ a \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= p_t^{\circledast} q_t^{\circledast}.$$

The second conjugate is considered in Lemma 2.17.

#### 2.1. The Regular Matrix Adjoint \*

 $\mathcal{H}_2^t$  is not closed under the usual matrix conjugation when  $t \neq \pm 1$ ,

$$q_t^* = \begin{pmatrix} \overline{a} & b \\ t\overline{b} & a \end{pmatrix} \notin \mathcal{H}_2^t$$

if  $t \neq \pm 1$  or if  $q_t$  is not a real scalar matrix, however this conjugate is useful in defining the matrix Hilbert Schmidt norm and the operator norm. For  $q_t$ as above, the Hilbert–Schmidt norm is equal to

$$\|q_t\|_{HS} = \sqrt{\operatorname{Tr} q_t q_t^*} = \sqrt{2|a|^2 + (1+t^2)|b|^2}.$$
(2.1)

Let us define the operator norm  $||q_t||_{op}$  as follows:

**Definition 2.2.** The operator norm of  $q_t \in \mathcal{H}_t$  is denoted by  $||q_t||_{op}$  and it is defined to be the square root of the largest eigenvalue of  $q_t q_t^*$ , using the regular adjoint  $q_t^*$  as in (1.5).

For ease of calculations, we now compute the operator norm of  $q_t$ :

**Proposition 2.3.** For any  $q_t \in \mathcal{H}_t$  it holds that

$$\|q_t\|_{op} = \sqrt{\frac{|b|^2(1+t^2) + 2|a|^2 + \sqrt{|b|^4(1-t^2)^2 + 4|a|^2|b|^2(1+t)^2}}{2}}$$
(2.2)

Proof. We have

$$\det(q_t q_t^* - \lambda I_2) = \det \begin{pmatrix} |a|^2 + t^2 |b|^2 - \lambda & ab(1+t) \\ \overline{a}\overline{b}(1+t) & |b|^2 + |a|^2 - \lambda \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \lambda^2 - \lambda(|b|^2 + |a|^2 + |a|^2 + t^2 |b|^2) + (|b|^2 + |a|^2)(|a|^2 + t^2 |b|^2)$$
$$-|a|^2 |b|^2 (1+t)^2$$

and the discriminant, say  $\Delta$ , of the corresponding eigenvalue equation is:  $\begin{aligned} \Delta &= (|b|^2 + |a|^2 + |a|^2 + t^2|b|^2))^2 - 4((|b|^2 + |a|^2)(|a|^2 + t^2|b|^2) - |a|^2|b|^2(1+t)^2) \\ &= (|b|^2 + |a|^2 - |a|^2 - t^2|b|^2))^2 + 4|a|^2|b|^2(1+t)^2 \\ &= |b|^4(1-t^2)^2 + 4|a|^2|b|^2(1+t)^2. \end{aligned}$ 

Thus

$$\lambda = \frac{|b|^2(1+t^2) + 2|a|^2 \pm \sqrt{|b|^4(1-t^2)^2 + 4|a|^2|b|^2(1+t)^2}}{2}$$

with largest eigenvalue corresponding to the + sign, and hence the result.

Corollary 2.4. We have the following:

$$\|q_t\|_{op} = \|q_t^{(*)}\|_{op} = \|q_t^{(*)}\|_{op}$$
(2.3)

and

$$\|q_t\|_{HS} = \|q_t^{\circledast}\|_{HS} = \|q_t^{[*]}\|_{HS}.$$
(2.4)

*Proof.* This is because  $||q_t||_{op}$  depends only on the absolute values of a and b.

Remark 2.5. For t = -1 we get  $||q_{-1}|| = \sqrt{|a|^2 + |b|^2}$  (as it should be, usually written as  $|q| = \sqrt{|a|^2 + |b|^2}$ ) while we get

$$||q_1|| = |a| + |b|$$

for t = 1. Note that the latter is not a Hilbert space norm.

We recall that  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$  endowed with the real-valued bilinear form

$$\langle p_t, q_t \rangle = \operatorname{Tr} q_t^* p_t$$

is a real four dimensional Hilbert space.

This norm is cumbersome to deal with, so we define a similar norm that induces the same topology, a scaled Euclidean-type norm.

**Definition 2.6.** We will now define the scaled Euclidean norm of  $\mathbb{H}_t$  to be

$$\|q_t\|_E = \sqrt{|a|^2 + |t| |b|^2} = \sqrt{x_0^2 + x_1^2 + |t| (x_2^2 + x_3^2)},$$
(2.5)

and the scaled inner product associated  $\|\cdot\|_E$  by  $[\cdot, \cdot]_E$ .

For  $q_t = x_0 + x_1i + x_2j_t + x_3k_t$  and  $p_t = y_0 + y_1i + y_2j_t + y_3k_t$  the associated inner product is:

$$[q_t, p_t]_E = x_0 y_0 + x_1 y_1 + |t| (x_2 y_2 + x_3 y_3).$$
(2.6)

*Remark 2.7.* This norm gives the same topology as the operator norm given in (2.2) or the Hilbert–Schmidt norm given in (2.1).

We conclude this subsection with a remark on matrices with entries in  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$ . Consider Let  $G = (g_{uv})_{u,v=1}^N \in (\mathcal{H}_2^t)^{N \times N}$ . Identifying  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$  with a subset of matrices of  $\mathbb{C}^{2 \times 2}$  one can identify G with a matrix in  $\mathbb{C}^{2N \times 2N}$ . Even if this new matrix is invertible in  $\mathbb{C}^{2N \times 2N}$ , it is not clear that it will have the structure corresponding to an element of  $(\mathcal{H}_2^t)^{N \times N}$ . First a definition:

**Definition 2.8.** Let  $G = (g_{uv})_{u,v=1}^N \in (\mathcal{H}_2^t)^{N \times N}$ . We say that G is invertible in  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$  if there exist a matrix  $H = (h_{uv})_{u,v=1}^N \in (\mathcal{H}_2^t)^{N \times N}$  such that GH = $HG = I_{(\mathcal{H}_2^t)^{N \times N}}$ . The matrices  $G_m = (G_{uv})_{u,v=1}^m$  are called the main minors of G.

Before we consider this above invertibility question in greater details we mention a number of formulas, often presented for complex matrices, but in fact valid for matrices with entries in any algebra, and can be traced at least with the work of Schur [43,44]. More recent references include [31,37], [38, p. 18], [35, p. 113].

**Lemma 2.9.** Let  $(A, B, C, D) \in (\mathcal{H}_2^t)^{n \times n} \times (\mathcal{H}_2^t)^{n \times m} \times (\mathcal{H}_2^t)^{m \times n} \times (\mathcal{H}_2^t)^{m \times m}$ , and assume that A (resp. D) is invertible. Then:

$$\begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} I_n & 0 \\ CA^{-1} & I_m \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & D - CA^{-1}B \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} I_n & A^{-1}B \\ 0 & I_m \end{pmatrix}, \quad (2.7)$$

and

$$\begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} I_n & BD^{-1} \\ 0 & I_m \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} A - BD^{-1}C & 0 \\ 0 & D \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} I_n & 0 \\ D^{-1}C & I_m \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.8)

respectively.

As a consequence, with

 $A^{\times} = A - BD^{-1}C$  and  $D^{\Box} = D - CA^{-1}B$ , (2.9)

we have:

**Lemma 2.10.** Assume A invertible. Then, M is invertible if and only if  $D^{\square}$  is invertible, and it holds that:

$$M^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} I_n - A^{-1}B \\ 0 & I_m \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} A^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & (D^{\Box})^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} I_n & 0 \\ -CA^{-1} & I_m \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} A^{-1} + A^{-1}B(D^{\Box})^{-1}CA^{-1} & -A^{-1}B(D^{\Box})^{-1} \\ -(D^{\Box})^{-1}CA^{-1} & (D^{\Box})^{-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.10)

Similarly, assuming D invertible, the matrix M is invertible if and only if  $A^{\times}$  is invertible, and we then have:

$$M^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} I_n & 0 \\ -D^{-1}C & I_m \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} (A^{\times})^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & D^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} I_n & -BD^{-1} \\ 0 & I_m \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} (A^{\times})^{-1} & -(A^{\times})^{-1}BD^{-1} \\ -D^{-1}C(A^{\times})^{-1} & D^{-1} + D^{-1}C(A^{\times})^{-1}BD^{-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.11)

As a prelimary example, consider the case N = 2, and  $G = \begin{pmatrix} g_{11} & g_{12} \\ g_{21} & g_{22} \end{pmatrix}$ . Assume that  $g_{11}$  is invertible, and define

$$g_{22}^{\Box} = g_{11} - g_{12}g_{22}^{-1}g_{21}$$

Then it follows from the formula (2.10) that G is invertible if  $g_{22}^{\Box}$  is invertible. Using the above formulas one can give sufficient conditions in terms of N element of  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$  for the matrix G to be invertible in  $(\mathcal{H}_2^t)^{N \times N}$ .

#### 2.2. The Adjoint \*

As written in the introduction we define the new adjoint  $\circledast$  as follows:

**Definition 2.11.** For 
$$q_t = \begin{pmatrix} a & tb \\ \overline{b} & \overline{a} \end{pmatrix}$$
,  $q_t \in \mathcal{H}_t$  we define  
 $q_t^{\circledast} = \begin{pmatrix} \overline{a} & -tb \\ -\overline{b} & a \end{pmatrix}$ .

The bilinear real form associated to  $\circledast$  is

$$[q_t, p_t]_{\circledast} = a\overline{c} + \overline{a}c - t(b\overline{d} + \overline{b}d)$$
(2.12)

with  $p_t = \begin{pmatrix} c & td \\ \overline{d} & \overline{c} \end{pmatrix}$ .

Lemma 2.12. The *\*-adjoint satisfies* 

$$q_t q_t^{\circledast} = q_t^{\circledast} q_t = (\det q_t) I_2 = (|a|^2 - t|b|^2) I_2.$$
(2.13)

As we saw above, the associated bilinear real form is

$$[q_t, p_t]_{\circledast} = \operatorname{Tr} q_t^{\circledast} p_t = a\overline{c} + \overline{a}c - t(b\overline{d} + \overline{b}d).$$
(2.14)

This  $\circledast$  adjoint leads to a theory which is completely parallel to the study of slice hyperholomorphic functions.

We set

$$\frac{q_t + q_t^{\circledast}}{2} = \operatorname{Re} q_t$$

We first note that

$$\operatorname{Re} q_t = (\operatorname{Re} a)I_2 = x_0 I_2,$$
 (2.15)

where we use the notation of Eq. (1.12)

**Lemma 2.13.** It holds that  $q_t^{\circledast} = q_t$  if and only if q is a scalar matrix,  $q_t = xI_2$  for some  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ .

*Proof.* This is a direct computation.

Formula (2.13) shows that  $q_t q_t^{\circledast}$  need not be positive for t > 0. More precisely:

**Theorem 2.14.** Let  $t \in \mathbb{R}^*$ . The space  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$  endowed with the form

$$[p_t, q_t]_{\circledast} = \operatorname{Tr} (q_t^{\circledast} p_t) = \operatorname{Tr} (p_t^{\circledast} q_t)$$
(2.16)

is a real Hilbert space of dimension four for t < 0 and a real Pontryagin space of dimension four, with (real) index of negativity equal to two, for t > 0.

Proof. With 
$$p_t = \begin{pmatrix} c & td \\ \overline{d} & \overline{c} \end{pmatrix}$$
 we have  

$$\operatorname{Tr} (q_t^{\circledast} p_t) = \operatorname{Tr} (p_t^{\circledast} q_t) = a\overline{c} + \overline{a}c - t(\overline{b}d + b\overline{d}). \qquad (2.17)$$

Furthermore,

$$\begin{split} [p_t, q_t]_{\circledast} &= \operatorname{Tr} \left( q_t^{\circledast} p_t \right) \\ &= a\overline{c} + \overline{a}c - t(\overline{b}d + b\overline{d}) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \left\{ (a + \overline{a})(c + \overline{c}) - (a - \overline{a})(c - \overline{c}) - t\left( (b + \overline{b})(d + \overline{d}) - (b - \overline{b})(d - \overline{d}) \right) \right\} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \left\{ (a + \overline{a})(c + \overline{c}) + (a - \overline{a})\overline{(c - \overline{c})} - t\left( (b + \overline{b})(d + \overline{d}) + (b - \overline{b})\overline{(d - \overline{d})} \right) \right\} \end{split}$$

which shows that in the case of t > 0 the form has two positive squares and two negative squares and  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$  becomes a Pontryagin space with  $[p_t, q_t]_{\circledast}$  and it is a Hilbert space for t < 0. which ends the proof (see also [7] and [8]).  $\Box$  As a corollary we have the following result.

**Corollary 2.15.** Let  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$  be the scaled hypercomplex space for a fixed t, where we assume that  $t \neq 0$ . If, moreover, for a fixed  $p_t \in \mathcal{H}_2^t$  we have  $\operatorname{Tr} q_t^{\circledast} p_t = 0$  for all  $q_t \in \mathcal{H}_2^t$ , then  $p_t = 0$ .

Proof. Let

$$p_t = \begin{pmatrix} c & td \\ \overline{d} & \overline{c} \end{pmatrix}$$
 and  $q_t = \begin{pmatrix} a & tb \\ \overline{b} & \overline{a} \end{pmatrix}$ .

Then, as in (2.14),

$$\operatorname{Tr} q_t^{\circledast} p_t = a\overline{c} + \overline{a}c - t(b\overline{d} + \overline{b}d).$$

Assume  $\operatorname{Tr} q_t^{\circledast} p_t = 0$  and first take b = 0. The choice a = 1 and a = i lead respectively to  $\operatorname{Re} c = 0$  and  $\operatorname{Im} c = 0$  so that c = 0. The case of d is treated similarly.

The first adjoint  $\circledast$  leads to a theory which is completely parallel to the study of slice hyperholomorphic functions and the authors are preparing another work in this direction as well.

In order to properly define spaces of functions, we will write the connection between the scaled norm and the  $\circledast$  inner product as follows. Let  $J_{\circledast}$  be the matrix:

$$J_{\circledast} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & -\frac{t}{|t|} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{t}{|t|} \end{pmatrix}_{\mathbb{R}} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & -\frac{t}{|t|} \end{pmatrix}_{\mathbb{C}}$$
(2.18)

 $J_{\circledast}$  is a signature matrix (both self-adjoint and equal to its inverse) and induces a signature operator (which we still denote by  $J_{\circledast}$  on  $\mathbb{H}_t$  such that

$$[q_t, q_t]_{\circledast} = [q_t, J_{\circledast} q_t]_E$$
(2.19)

where  $[\cdot, \cdot]_E$  is the inner product associated to the norm  $\|\cdot\|_E$ , as in (2.6).

Note that, using the representation (1.8) we have

$$J_{\circledast}q_t = \overline{a} - bj_t. \tag{2.20}$$

#### 2.3. The Adjoint [\*]

We now turn to the definition of adjoint  $q_t^{[*]}$ , as in the introduction.

**Definition 2.16.** For a fixed scalar  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , and  $q_t = (a, b)_t \in \mathbb{H}_t$  we define  $q_t^{[*]}$  by

$$(a,b)_t^{[*]} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (a,\overline{b})_t \quad \text{in } \mathbb{H}_t.$$
(2.21)

Equivalently, if we take  $q_t$  to be an element of  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$  rather than  $\mathbb{H}_t$  then  $q_t^{[*]}$  becomes:

$$\begin{pmatrix} a \ tb \\ \overline{b} \ \overline{a} \end{pmatrix}^{[*]} = \begin{pmatrix} a \ t\overline{b} \\ b \ \overline{a} \end{pmatrix}$$
 (2.22)

on  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$ .

The second adjoint [\*] satisfies the following identity in matrix form:

$$q_t^{[*]} = Jq_t^*J \quad \text{with} \quad J = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \ 1 \\ 1 \ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.23)

Note that, even if,  $q_t^*$  and J are not in  $\mathcal{H}_t$  for general t, we have that  $q_t^{[*]} \in \mathcal{H}_t$  and hence it becomes a Pontryagin space adjoint on  $\mathbb{C}^{2\times 2}$  (see Sect. Appendix A and Example A.3; see also [7]).

We also note that, in general,  $q_t$  is not normal for this adjoint, (i.e. it does not commute with  $q_t^{[*]}$ ):

$$q_t q_t^{[*]} \neq q_t^{[*]} q_t. \tag{2.24}$$

The adjoint [\*] is associated to the bilinear real form

$$[q_t, p_t]_{[*]} = ac + \overline{ac} - t(bd + \overline{bd})$$
(2.25)

(as compared with (2.14)), and leads to a new theory, more "non-commutative". A way to see this is to compare the definitions of the corresponding Blaschke factors later on in Sect. 6 (see formulas (4.18) and (5.2) respectively).

The second adjoint [\*] satisfies

$$q_t^{[*]} = Jq_t^* J \quad \text{with} \quad J = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.26)

**Lemma 2.17.** It holds that, for every  $p_t, q_t \in \mathbb{H}_t$ 

$$(q_t^{[*]})^{[*]} = q_t \tag{2.27}$$

$$(p_t \cdot_t q_t)^{[*]} = q_t^{[*]} \cdot_t p_t^{[*]}$$
(2.28)

*Proof.* The proof follows from (2.26) and of the corresponding properties for the regular adjoint. We leave the details to the reader.

We now make more precise the fact (see (2.24) above) that  $q_t$  is not normal in general with respect to this adoint.

**Proposition 2.18.** Let 
$$q_t = \begin{pmatrix} a & tb \\ \overline{b} & \overline{a} \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{H}_2^t$$
. Then,  
 $q_t q_t^{[*]} = \begin{pmatrix} a^2 + tb^2 & 2\operatorname{Re} & a\overline{b} \\ 2\operatorname{Re} & a\overline{b} & \overline{a}^2 + t\overline{b}^2 \end{pmatrix}$ 
 $q_t^{[*]} q_t = \begin{pmatrix} a^2 + t\overline{b}^2 & 2t\operatorname{Re} & ab \\ 2\operatorname{Re} & ab & \overline{a}^2 + tb^2 \end{pmatrix}$ .
$$(2.29)$$

*Proof.* The formulas (2.29) are shown by straightforward computations. See [6] for details.

Lemma 2.19. The form

$$[q_t, p_t]_{[*]} = \operatorname{Tr}\left(p_t^{[*]}q_t\right), \quad p, q \in \mathcal{H}_2^t$$

is bilinear on  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$  with respect to the real numbers, satisfies

 $[q_t, p_t]_{[*]} = [p_t, q_t]_{[*]}$ 

and is not degenerate on  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$ .

Proof. Set

$$q_t = \begin{pmatrix} a \ tb \\ \overline{b} \ \overline{a} \end{pmatrix}$$
 and  $p_t = \begin{pmatrix} c \ td \\ \overline{d} \ \overline{c} \end{pmatrix}$ ,

and assume that  $q \in \mathbb{H}_t$  is such that  $[q_t, p_t]_{[*]} = 0$  for all  $p \in \mathbb{H}_t$ . Since

$$q_t^{[*]} p_t = \begin{pmatrix} ac + t\overline{bd} \ t(ad + \overline{b}\overline{c}) \\ bc + \overline{ad} \ tbd + \overline{ac} \end{pmatrix}$$

we have

$$[q_t, p_t]_{[*]} = \operatorname{Re}\left(ac + t\overline{bd}\right).$$

The choice d = 0 and  $c \in \mathbb{R}$  gives  $\operatorname{Re} a = 0$  and the choice  $c \in \mathbb{R}$  gives  $\operatorname{Im} a = 0$ . So a = 0. To see that b = 0 take then d real and then d purely imaginary.

By the above analysis, one can get the following result (see [6]).

**Theorem 2.20.** If  $t \neq 0$ , the pair  $(\mathcal{H}_2^t, [,]_{[*]})$  is a Pontryagin space over  $\mathbb{R}$ .

*Proof.* We have that:

$$\begin{split} [q_t, p_t]_{[*]} &= 2\operatorname{Re}\left(ac + t\overline{bd}\right) \\ &= ac + \overline{ac} + t(bd + \overline{bd}) \\ &= \frac{1}{2}\left\{(a + \overline{a})(c + \overline{c}) - (a - \overline{a})\overline{(c - \overline{c})} + t\left((b + \overline{b})(d + \overline{d}) - (b - \overline{b})\overline{(d - \overline{d})}\right)\right\}, \end{split}$$

which shows that the form has two positive squares and two negative squares and the result follows.  $\hfill \Box$ 

We will now write the connection between the scaled norm and the [\*] inner product as follows. Let  $J_{[*]}$  be the matrix:

$$J_{[*]} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \frac{t}{|t|} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -\frac{t}{|t|} \end{pmatrix}_{\mathbb{R}}$$
(2.30)

 $J_{[*]}$  is a signature matrix (both self-adjoint and equal to its inverse) and induces a signature operator (which we still denote by  $J_{[*]}$  on  $\mathbb{H}_t$  such that such that

$$[q_t, q_t]_{[*]} = [q_t, J_{[*]}q_t]_E.$$
(2.31)

Note that, using the representation  $q_t = a + bj_t$  we have

$$J_{[*]}q_t = a + \bar{b}j_t. (2.32)$$

*Remark 2.21.* As a reminder, we now have  $(\mathcal{H}_2^t, [,]_{[*]})$  a Pontryagin space for all  $t \neq 0$ , while  $(\mathcal{H}_2^t, [,]_{\circledast})$  is a Pontryagin space for t > 0 and a Hilbert space for t < 0.

Remark 2.22. Let  $t = \pm 1$ . It holds that  $q_1^* = q_1^{[*]}$  if and only if  $b = \overline{b}$  and  $a = \overline{a}$ , i.e. if and only if  $q_1$  is an hyperbolic number. Similarly, let t = -1. Then  $q_1^* = q_1^{[*]}$  if and only if  $b = -\overline{b}$  and  $a = \overline{a}$ .

In a table form, the adjoints of  $i, j_t$  and  $k_t$  with respect to  $\circledast$  and [\*] are:

	*	[*]
1	1	1
i	-i	i
$j_t$	$-j_t$	$j_t$
$k_t$	$-k_t$	$-k_t$

or, equivalently, in terms of matrices:

	*	[*]
$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$	$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$	$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$
$\begin{pmatrix} i & 0 \\ 0 & -i \end{pmatrix}$	$-\begin{pmatrix}i&0\\0&-i\end{pmatrix}$	$\begin{pmatrix} i & 0 \\ 0 & -i \end{pmatrix}$
$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & t \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$	$-\begin{pmatrix} 0 & t \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$	$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & t \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$
$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & ti \\ -i & 0 \end{pmatrix}$	$-\begin{pmatrix} 0 & ti \\ -i & 0 \end{pmatrix}$	$-\begin{pmatrix} 0 & ti \\ -i & 0 \end{pmatrix}$

Throughout the paper we will make use of the three equivalent definitions of scaled hypercomplex numbers and their conjugates and use either the matrix, vector, or complex pair notation as needed. As a reminder, we include them here:

$$q_t^* = \begin{pmatrix} \overline{a} & b \\ t\overline{b} & a \end{pmatrix} \qquad q_t^{\circledast} = \begin{pmatrix} \overline{a} & -tb \\ -\overline{b} & a \end{pmatrix} \qquad q_t^{[*]} = \begin{pmatrix} a & t\overline{b} \\ b & \overline{a} \end{pmatrix}.$$

These conjugates will lead interesting function theories and it is worth mentioning here the example of  $f(q_t) = \sqrt{1-q_t}$  which will have a familiar corresponding power series decomposition depending on the two adjoints  $\circledast$  and [\*].

In this paper, we do not develop the degenerate case t = 0, as it is not relevant here. This case is currently being worked on in another project.

#### 2.4. Spaces of Functions on $\mathcal{H}_2^t$

We start with considering the spectrum of a matrix given by the  $\circledast$  adjoint. This is the only case that can be considered, since, for the [\*] adjoint we have that  $q_t$  is not normal for this adjoint (see (2.24)) and that  $q_t q_t^{[*]}$  is not scalar.

**Proposition 2.23.** For  $q_t \in \mathbb{H}_t$  and  $A \in \mathbb{H}_t^{m \times m}$  we have that:

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n A^n = (1 - q_t^{\circledast} A) (q_t q_t^{\circledast} A^2 - 2(\operatorname{Re}(q_t))A + I_2)^{-1}, \qquad (2.33)$$

whenever the sum on the left is convergent.

*Proof.* We prove (2.33); We have

$$\begin{split} \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n A^n\right) \left(q_t q_t^{\circledast} A^2 - 2(\operatorname{Re}\left(q_t^{\circledast}\right))A + I_2\right) \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n (q_t q_t^{\circledast}) A^{n+2} - 2\sum_{0}^{\infty} q_t^n (\operatorname{Re}\left(q_t\right)) A^{n+1} + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n A^n \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^{n+1} q_t^{\circledast} A^{n+2} - \sum_{0}^{\infty} q_t^n (q_t + q_t^{\circledast}) A^{n+1} + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n A^n \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^{n+1} q_t^{\circledast} A^{n+2} - \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^{n+1} A^{n+1} - \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n q_t^{\circledast} A^{n+1} + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n A^n \\ &= \underbrace{\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^{n+1} q_t^{\circledast} A^{n+2} - \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n q_t^{\circledast} A^{n+1} + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n A^n - \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^{n+1} A^{n+1} \\ &= \underbrace{\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^{n+1} q_t^{\circledast} A^{n+2} - \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n q_t^{\circledast} A^{n+1} + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n A^n - \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^{n+1} A^{n+1} \\ &= \underbrace{I_2 - q_t^{\circledast} A. \end{split}$$

**Corollary 2.24.** For any  $p_t, q_t \in \mathbb{H}_2^t$  we have that:

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n p_t^n = (1 - q_t^{\circledast} p_t) (q_t q_t^{\circledast} p_t^2 - 2(\operatorname{Re}(q_t)) p_t + 1)^{-1}, \qquad (2.34)$$

whenever the sum on the left is convergent.

*Proof.* Setting then  $A = p_t$  in (2.33) gives (2.34).

*Remark 2.25.* In the case where t = 1, the quaternionic case, this spectrum first appeared in [25–27].

We now introduce the Cauchy product of power series in  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$ . In view of the non-commutativity there are various possible ways to define power series and their product; here we follow [32], and consider power series of the form

$$f(q_t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n \alpha_n, \qquad (2.35)$$

where both the variable  $q_t$  and the coefficients  $\alpha_0, \alpha_1, \ldots$  are in  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$ .

**Definition 2.26.** Let  $f(q_t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n \alpha_n$  and  $g(q_t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n \beta_n$ , then the Cauchy-star product of f and g is:

$$(f \star g)(q_t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{n} q_t^{n-k} \alpha_{n-k} \star q_t^k \beta_k$$
(2.36)

where:

$$q_t^l \alpha \star_t q_t^m \beta = q_t^{l+m} \alpha \cdot_t \beta, \quad l, m \in \mathbb{N}_0, \quad \alpha, \beta \in \mathcal{H}_2^t,$$

is called the star-product.

Throughout the paper we will call both of the above  $\star$  products. The  $\star$ -product does not respect point-evaluation, but as in the quaternionic setting we have:

**Lemma 2.27.** In the above notation assume that  $f(q_t) \neq 0$ . We then have:

$$(f \star g)(q_t) = f(q_t)g\left(f(q_t)^{-1}q_t f(q_t)\right).$$
(2.37)

*Proof.* In the above notation we have:

$$(f \star g)(q_t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n f(q_t) \beta_n$$
  
=  $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} f(q_t) f(q_t)^{-1} q_t^n f(q_t) \beta_n$   
=  $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} f(q_t) \left( f(q_t)^{-1} q_t f(q_t) \right)^n \beta_n$   
=  $f(q_t) \left( \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} f(q_t) \left( f(q_t)^{-1} q_t f(q_t) \right)^n \beta_n \right)$   
=  $f(q_t) g \left( f(q_t)^{-1} q_t f(q_t) \right).$ 

The proof of the following important lemma is easy and will be omitted.

**Lemma 2.28.** The power series (2.35) is uniquely determined by the values f(x), where x is real and in an open interval of the form  $(-\varepsilon, \varepsilon)$ , for some  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Furthermore the restriction to the real line of the  $\star$ -product reduces to the regular (non-commutative) product of power series of a real variable with matrix coefficients.

Thus these are series of matrices (with a certain structure), and the results from series of matrices will hold, using the operator norm, and the claims can be proved by first considering the case  $q_t \in \mathbb{R}$ . In particular:

**Proposition 2.29.** Let  $f(q_t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n \alpha_n$  and  $g(q_t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n \beta_n$  be power series of the form (2.35), converging in a neighborhood  $||q_t||_{op} < \epsilon$  of the zero matrix in  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$ . The star product  $f \star g$  converges in a (possibly smaller) neighborhood of the origin.

*Proof.* Let  $(\gamma_n)$  be the corresponding convolution sequence:

$$\gamma_n = \sum_{k=0}^n \alpha_k \beta_{n-k}, \quad n = 0, 1, \dots$$

Restricting  $q_t = x_0 I_2$  where  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ , and resorting to the classical theory, we see that the series  $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} x_0^n \gamma_n$  converges for  $|x_0| < \eta$  for some  $\eta > 0$ . Thus

$$\frac{1}{R} = \limsup_{n \to \infty} \|\gamma_n\|_{op}^{\frac{1}{n}} > 0.$$

For  $||q_t|| < R$  the series  $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} ||q_t||_{op}^n \cdot ||\gamma_n||_{op}$  converges and so does  $f \star g$ .  $\Box$ 

**Proposition 2.30.** Assume  $\alpha_0 = 1$ , and write  $f(q_t) = 1 - g(q_t)$  with  $g(q_t) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} q_t^k \alpha_k$ . Then, the inverse  $f^{-\star}(q_t)$  is equal to a convergent power series of the form (2.35) in a neighborhood of the origin and moreover

$$f^{-\star}(q_t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} g^{\star n}(q_t)$$

where  $g^{\star n} = g \star g \cdots \star g$ , n-times, and the convergence is in the topology of  $\mathbb{C}^{2 \times 2}$ .

*Proof.* The result is true for  $q_t = x \in \mathbb{R}$  and then follows since the restriction to any subinterval of the real line uniquely determines a power series of the form (2.35) (see Lemma 2.28).

The following lemma will play a key role in the study of rational functions.

**Lemma 2.31.** Let  $\alpha = (\alpha_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$  be a sequence of elements in  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$  and let  $\alpha^{\circledast} = (\alpha_n^{\circledast})_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$  denote the corresponding sequence of  $\circledast$ -adjoints. Then the sequence of self-convolution  $\alpha \otimes \alpha^{\circledast}$  is real.

Proof. We have

$$(\alpha \otimes \alpha^{\circledast})_n = \sum_{\substack{\ell, k \in \{0, \dots, n\} \\ k+\ell=n}} \alpha_k \alpha_\ell^{\circledast}$$

which is equal to its own *\**-adjoint since

$$\sum_{\substack{\ell,k \in \{0,\dots,n\}\\k+\ell=n}} \alpha_k \alpha_\ell^{\circledast} = \sum_{\substack{\ell,k \in \{0,\dots,n\}\\k+\ell=n}} \alpha_\ell \alpha_k^{\circledast}$$
(2.38)

**Definition 2.32.** Let  $f(q_t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n \alpha_n$  be converging in a neighborhood  $||q_t|| < \epsilon$  of the zero element of  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$ . We define

$$f^{\circledast}(q_t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n \alpha_n^{\circledast}.$$
(2.39)

We note that, for  $q_t = x \in \mathbb{R}$  for which the power series converges,

$$f^{\circledast}(x) = (f(x))^{\circledast}.$$

**Proposition 2.33.** The power series  $f(q_t) \star f^{\circledast}(q_t)$  has real coefficients and commute with every other converging power series.

*Proof.* This follows from Lemma 2.31.

**Proposition 2.34.** Assume that  $\alpha_0$  in (2.35) is invertible. Then,

$$(f(q_t))^{-\star} = f^{\circledast}(q_t)(f(q_t) \star f^{\circledast}(q_t))^{-1} = (f(q_t) \star f^{\circledast}(q_t))^{-1} f^{\circledast}(q_t).$$
(2.40)

*Proof.* We observe that, since  $f(q_t) \star f^{\circledast}(q_t)$  is real valued and  $\star$  is associative:

$$(f(q_t))^{-\star} (f(q_t) \star f^{\circledast}(q_t)) = (f(q_t))^{-\star} \star (f(q_t) \star f^{\circledast}(q_t))$$
$$= (f(q_t)^{-\star} \star f((q_t))) \star f^{\circledast}(q_t) = f^{\circledast}(q_t).$$

In preparation of the study of rational functions we specialize the previous result to polynomial

**Corollary 2.35.** Let  $P(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{N} x^n \alpha_n$  be a polynomial of the real variable x, with coefficients  $\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_N \in \mathcal{H}_2^t$ . Then the polynomial

$$P(x)(P(x))^{\circledast} \tag{2.41}$$

has real coefficients and

$$(P(q_t))^{-\star} = P^{\circledast}(q_t)(P(q_t) \star P^{\circledast}(q_t))^{-1} = (P(q_t) \star P^{\circledast}(q_t))^{-1}P^{\circledast}(q_t).$$
(2.42)

We note that (2.42) can be rewritten as

$$(P(q_t))^{-\star} = \frac{P^{\circledast}(q_t)}{(P(q_t) \star P^{\circledast}(q_t))}$$

We present an illustration of the previous corollary, which pertains to Blaschke factors; see Sect. 4.4 for the latter.

Example 2.36. Let  $\alpha \in \mathcal{H}_2^t$ . Then,

$$(1 - q_t \alpha)^{-\star} = (1 - q_t \alpha^{\circledast})((1 - q_t \alpha) \star (1 - q_t \alpha^{\circledast}))^{-1}$$
$$= \frac{1 - q_t \alpha^{\circledast}}{q_t^2(\alpha \alpha^{\circledast}) - 2q_t \operatorname{Re} \alpha + 1}$$

We conclude this section with:

**Proposition 2.37.** We have that  $q_t - \alpha$  and  $(1 - q_t \alpha) \star$ -commute. It then follows that  $q_t - \alpha$  and  $(1 - q_t \alpha)^{-\star}$  also  $\star$ -commute.

*Proof.* The claim amounts to show that

$$(1 - q_t \alpha) \star (q_t - \alpha) = (q_t - \alpha) \star (1 - q_t \alpha),$$

but both sides are equal to  $-q_t^2 \alpha + q_t(\alpha^2 + 1) - \alpha$ .

The second part follows.

In fact the above proposition is a special case of the following result, whose proof is left to the reader.

**Proposition 2.38.** Let  $f(q_t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n \alpha_n$  and  $g(q_t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n \beta_n$  be power series of the form (2.35), converging in a neighborhood  $||q_t||_{op} < \epsilon$  of zero. If their coefficients pairwise commute, i.e.  $\alpha_n \beta_m = \beta_m \alpha_n$ ,  $\forall n, m \in \mathbb{N}_0$ , then f and g will also  $\star$ -commute.

We conclude with a definition generalizing the quaternioinc setting:

**Definition 2.39.** Let  $\alpha \in \mathbb{H}_t$ . We denote by  $[\alpha]$ , and call sphere associated to  $\alpha$ , the set of points  $\beta \in \mathbb{H}_t$  such that

$$\operatorname{Re}\alpha = \operatorname{Re}\beta \tag{2.43}$$

 $\square$ 

$$\alpha \alpha^{\circledast} = \beta \beta^{\circledast} \tag{2.44}$$

### 3. The Scaled Global Operator for Scaled Hypercomplex Numbers

For the scaled variable  $q_t$  we have its vector part:

$$\vec{q_t} = ix_1 + j_t x_2 + k_t x_3,$$

and, similar to the global operator  $G_q$  on the space of quaternions, we can define the global operator associated to the scaled quaternions  $\mathbb{H}_t$  to be:

$$G_t = \vec{q_t} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_0} - \left( x_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} + x_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} + x_3 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_3} \right)$$
(3.1)

and its associated, simplified version:

$$V_t = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_0} - \frac{1}{ix_1 + j_t x_2 + k_t x_3} \left( x_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} + x_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} + x_3 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_3} \right)$$
(3.2)

# 3.1. The Gleason Problem Associated to the $V_t$ -Operator and the $V_t$ -Fueter Variables

As in [15] we solve the Gleason problem associated to the new  $V_t$ -operator and define  $\mu_{t,l}$ , the Fueter-type variables which are in its kernel and which generate the series solutions to  $V_t f = 0$ , where f is real-analytic.

Assume f smooth and in the kernel of  $V_t$ , which yields:

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_0} = \frac{1}{ix_1 + j_t x_2 + k_t x_3} \left( x_1 \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_1} + x_2 \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_2} + x_3 \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_3} \right)$$

Varying x by a real parameter u, we obtain:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}f(ux)}{\mathrm{d}u} = x_0 \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_0}(ux) + x_1 \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_1}(ux) + x_2 \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_2}(ux) + x_3 \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_3}(ux)$$

$$= \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \left( x_1 \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_1}(ux) + x_2 \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_2}(ux) + x_3 \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_3}(ux) \right)$$

$$+ x_1 \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_1}(ux) + x_2 \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_2}(ux) + x_3 \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_3}(ux)$$

$$= \mu_{1,t}(x) \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_1}(ux) + \mu_{2,t}(x) \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_2}(ux) + \mu_{3,t}(x) \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_3}(ux)$$
(3.3)

where:

$$\mu_{l,t}(x) = x_l \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right), \quad l = 1, 2, 3.$$
(3.4)

**Definition 3.1.** The functions  $\mu_{l,t}$ , l = 1, 2, 3, are called the  $V_{q_t}$ -Fueter variables.

For t = -1, corresponding to the field of quaternions  $\mathbb{H}_{-1}$ , these variables were introduced in [15].

With  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3) \in \mathbb{N}_0^3$  we recall that

$$|\alpha| = \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \alpha_3$$

and we use the multi-variable notation for  $x = (x_1, x_2, x_3) \in \mathbb{R}^3$ , and more generally for commuting variables:

$$x^{\alpha} = x_1^{\alpha_1} x_2^{\alpha_2} x_3^{\alpha_3}.$$

#### D. Alpay et al.

We can now define:

**Definition 3.2.** For the  $V_t$ -Fueter variables  $\mu_u$  and  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3) \in \mathbb{N}_0^3$ , we define the product:

$$\mu_t^{\alpha}(x) = \mu_{1,t}^{\alpha_1}(x)\mu_{2,t}^{\alpha_2}(x)\mu_{3,t}^{\alpha_3}(x), \qquad (3.5)$$

for every  $x \in \mathbb{H}_t^*$ .

**Proposition 3.3.** The  $V_t$ -Fueter variables pairwise commute and for  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^3$  it holds that

$$\mu_t^{\alpha} = \mu_{1,t}^{\alpha} \mu_{2,t}^{\alpha} \mu_{3,t}^{\alpha\beta} = x^{\alpha} \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right)^{|\alpha|}$$
(3.6)

and

$$\mu_t^{\alpha}\big|_{x_0=0} = x^{\alpha} \tag{3.7}$$

*Proof.* Since here too the  $V_t$ -Fueter variables  $\mu_l$  commute, in the above definition we do not need to use the symmetric product and the proof goes along the lines of the quaternionic case which was presented in [15].

We can now prove that the  $V_t$ -Fueter products  $\mu_t^{\alpha}$  are in the kernel of  $V_t$  on  $\mathbb{H}_t^*$ :

**Theorem 3.4.** It holds that  $\mu_t^{\alpha}$  are in the kernel of the operator  $V_t$  on any open domain  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{H}_t^*$ . Moreover, we have:

$$V_t \mu_t^\alpha(x) = 0, \tag{3.8}$$

for every  $x \in \Omega$ .

*Proof.* Following the argument in [15], we divide the verification into a number of steps.

STEP 1: It holds that

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} \frac{1}{\vec{q}_t} = \frac{i}{\vec{q}_t^2} + \frac{2x_1}{\vec{q}_t^3}, 
\frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} \frac{1}{\vec{q}_t} = \frac{j_t}{\vec{q}_t^2} + \frac{2x_2t}{\vec{q}_t^3}, 
\frac{\partial}{\partial x_3} \frac{1}{\vec{q}_t} = \frac{k_t}{\vec{q}_t^2} + \frac{2x_3t}{\vec{q}_t^3}.$$
(3.9)

Indeed, for the first case we have

$$\frac{1}{\vec{q_t}} = \frac{\vec{q_t}}{\vec{q_t}^2} = \frac{-\vec{q_t}}{x_1^2 + (x_2^2 + x_3^2)t}$$

Hence

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} \frac{1}{\vec{q_t}} = \frac{-i(x_1^2 + (x_2^2 + x_3^2)t) + 2x_1\vec{q_t}}{(x_1^2 + (x_2^2 + x_3^2)t)^2}$$
$$= \frac{i\vec{q_t}^2}{\vec{q_t}^4} + \frac{2x_1\vec{q_t}}{\vec{q_t}^3}$$

and the result follows. The other cases are similar and Eq. (3.9) are proven.

STEP 2: It now holds that

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right)^{|\alpha|} = \sum_{\substack{t,s \in \mathbb{N}_0 \\ t+s=|\alpha|}} \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right)^t \left( \frac{x_0 i}{\vec{q}_t^2} + \frac{2x_1 x_0}{\vec{q}_t^3} \right) \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right)^s,$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right)^{|\alpha|} = \sum_{\substack{t,s \in \mathbb{N}_0 \\ t+s=|\alpha|}} \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right)^t \left( \frac{x_0 j_t}{\vec{q}_t^2} + \frac{2tx_2 x_0}{\vec{q}_t^3} \right) \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right)^s,$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x_3} \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right)^{|\alpha|} = \sum_{\substack{t,s \in \mathbb{N}_0 \\ t+s=|\alpha|}} \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right)^t \left( \frac{x_0 k_t}{\vec{q}_t^2} + \frac{2tx_3 x_0}{\vec{q}_t^3} \right) \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right)^s.$$
(3.10)

(3.10) is a direct consequence of (3.9) and of the formula for the derivative of  $f^n$  when f is a matrix-valued function (and in particular a global quaternionic valued) of (say) a real variable w:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}f^n}{\mathrm{d}w} = \sum_{\substack{t,s \in \mathbb{N}_0 \\ t+s=|\alpha|}} f^t f' f^s.$$
(3.11)

STEP 3: We have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x_0} \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right)^{|\alpha|} = \frac{|\alpha|}{\vec{q}_t} \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right)^{|\alpha|-1}.$$
(3.12)

This is because  $1 + \frac{x_0}{\bar{q}_t}$  commutes with its derivative with respect to  $x_0$ , and formula (3.11) reduces then to the classical formula.

STEP 4: We now calculate

$$\frac{1}{\vec{q_t}} \sum_{u=1}^3 x_u \frac{\partial}{\partial x_u} \mu^{\alpha}.$$

We have:

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{\vec{q}_t} \sum_{u=1}^3 x_u \frac{\partial}{\partial x_u} x^{\alpha} \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right)^{|\alpha|} &= \frac{1}{\vec{q}_t} \\ & \cdot \left( x_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} x^{\alpha} \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right)^{|\alpha|} + x_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} x^{\alpha} \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right)^{|\alpha|} + x_3 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_3} x^{\alpha} \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right)^{|\alpha|} \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{\vec{q}_t} \left[ x_1 \alpha_1 x^{\alpha - (1,0,0)} \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right)^{|\alpha|} \\ & + x_1 x^{\alpha} \sum_{\substack{t,s \in \mathbb{N}_0 \\ t+s=|\alpha|}} \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right)^t \left( \frac{x_0 i}{\vec{q}_t^2} + \frac{2x_1 x_0}{\vec{q}_t^3} \right) \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right)^s \right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{\vec{q}_t} \left[ x_2 \alpha_2 x^{\alpha - (0,1,0)} \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right)^{|\alpha|} \\ & + x_2 x^{\alpha} \sum_{\substack{t,s \in \mathbb{N}_0 \\ t+s=|\alpha|}} \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right)^t \left( \frac{x_0 j_t}{\vec{q}_t^2} + \frac{2t x_2 x_0}{\vec{q}_t^3} \right) \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right)^s \right] \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &+ \frac{1}{\bar{q}_{t}} \left[ x_{3}\alpha_{3}x^{\alpha-(0,0,1)} \left( 1 + \frac{x_{0}}{\bar{q}_{t}} \right)^{|\alpha|} \\ &+ x_{3}x^{\alpha} \sum_{\substack{t,s \in \mathbb{N}_{0} \\ t+s=|\alpha|}} \left( 1 + \frac{x_{0}}{\bar{q}_{t}} \right)^{t} \left( \frac{x_{0}k_{t}}{\bar{q}_{t}^{2}} + \frac{2tx_{3}x_{0}}{\bar{q}_{t}^{3}} \right) \left( 1 + \frac{x_{0}}{\bar{q}_{t}} \right)^{s} \right], \\ &= \frac{1}{\bar{q}_{t}} \left[ |\alpha|x^{\alpha} \left( 1 + \frac{x_{0}}{\bar{q}_{t}} \right)^{|\alpha|} \right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{\bar{q}_{t}} \left[ x^{\alpha} \sum_{\substack{t,s \in \mathbb{N}_{0} \\ t+s=|\alpha|-1}} \left( 1 + \frac{x_{0}}{\bar{q}_{t}} \right)^{t} \left( \frac{x_{1}x_{0}i + x_{2}x_{0}j_{t} + x_{3}x_{0}k_{t}}{\bar{q}_{t}^{2}} \right) \\ &+ \frac{2x_{1}^{2}x_{0} + 2tx_{2}^{2}x_{0} + 2tx_{3}^{2}x_{0}}{\bar{q}_{t}^{3}} \right) \left( 1 + \frac{x_{0}}{\bar{q}_{t}} \right)^{s} \right] \\ &= \frac{x^{\alpha}}{\bar{q}_{t}} \left[ |\alpha| \left( 1 + \frac{x_{0}}{\bar{q}_{t}} \right)^{|\alpha|} + \sum_{\substack{t,s \in \mathbb{N}_{0} \\ t+s=|\alpha|-1}} \left( 1 + \frac{x_{0}}{\bar{q}_{t}} \right)^{t} \left( \frac{x_{0}\bar{q}_{t}}{\bar{q}_{t}^{2}} - \frac{2\bar{q}_{t}^{2}x_{0}}{\bar{q}_{t}^{3}} \right) \left( 1 + \frac{x_{0}}{\bar{q}_{t}} \right)^{s} \right] \\ &= \frac{x^{\alpha}}{\bar{q}_{t}} \left[ |\alpha| \left( 1 + \frac{x_{0}}{\bar{q}_{t}} \right)^{|\alpha|} - \sum_{\substack{t,s \in \mathbb{N}_{0} \\ t+s=|\alpha|-1}} \left( 1 + \frac{x_{0}}{\bar{q}_{t}} \right)^{t} \frac{x_{0}}{\bar{q}_{t}} \left( 1 + \frac{x_{0}}{\bar{q}_{t}} \right)^{s} \right] \\ &= \frac{x^{\alpha}}{\bar{q}_{t}} \left[ |\alpha| \left( 1 + \frac{x_{0}}{\bar{q}_{t}} \right)^{|\alpha|} - |\alpha| \left( 1 + \frac{x_{0}}{\bar{q}_{t}} \right)^{|\alpha|-1} \frac{x_{0}}{\bar{q}_{t}}} \right]. \end{split}$$

STEP 5: We can now compute  $V_t \mu_t^{\alpha}$ . Using (3.12) and the previous step we have:

$$\begin{split} V_t \mu_t^{\alpha} &= x^{\alpha} \frac{|\alpha|}{\vec{q}_t} \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right)^{|\alpha| - 1} - \frac{x^{\alpha}}{\vec{q}_t} \left[ |\alpha| \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right)^{|\alpha|} - |\alpha| \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right)^{|\alpha| - 1} \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right] \\ &= \frac{|\alpha| x^{\alpha}}{\vec{q}_t} \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right)^{|\alpha| - 1} \left( 1 - \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right) + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right) \\ &= 0. \end{split}$$

This ends the proof.

Remark 3.5. We observe that both functions  $\mu_t^{\alpha}$  and  $\zeta_t^{\alpha}$  coincide with  $x^{\alpha}$  when  $x_0 = 0$ . It is important to note that these are two different extensions of the same real function  $x^{\alpha}$  leading to two different regular function theories. In fact,  $\mu_t^{\alpha}$  is the  $V_t$ -regular extension of  $x^{\alpha}$  while  $\zeta_t^{\alpha}$  gives the classical global Fueter extension. However, the classical global Fueter variables  $\zeta_t^{\alpha}$  extend  $x^{\alpha}$  to the whole space of quaternions while  $\mu_t^{\alpha}$  extend  $x^{\alpha}$  to domains of  $\mathbb{H}_t^*$ .

In their work paper [8] two of the co-authors have introduced the extension of the Fueter variables corresponding to the Fueter operator to the scaled case, namely to scaled Fueter variables for the scaled Fueter operator:

 $\square$ 

**Definition 3.6.** The scaled Fueter  $\zeta_t$  variables are:

$$\zeta_{1,t} = x_1 - x_0 i, \qquad \zeta_{2,t} = x_2 + \frac{\operatorname{sign}(t)x_0}{\sqrt{|t|}} j_t, \qquad \zeta_{3,t} = x_3 + \frac{\operatorname{sign}(t)x_0}{\sqrt{|t|}} k_t.$$
(3.13)

In the case of t = -1, namely, in the case of quaternions, we have the following (see [15] for details)

**Proposition 3.7.** Let  $\Omega$  be an open domain in  $\mathbb{H}^*$ . For every  $x \in \Omega \subset \mathbb{H}^*$  it holds that

$$|\mu^{\alpha}|^{2} = |x|^{2\alpha} \left( 1 + \frac{x_{0}^{2}}{x_{1}^{2} + x_{2}^{2} + x_{3}^{2}} \right)^{|\alpha|}, \qquad (3.14)$$

and, in particular, we have:

$$|\mu_u(x)|^2 \le |\zeta_u(x)|^2, \quad u = 1, 2, 3. \tag{3.15}$$

*Proof.* This follows from the fact that  $\frac{x_0}{\bar{a}}$  has no real part on  $\Omega$  and:

$$|\mu_u(x)|^2 = x_u^2 + \frac{x_u^2 x_0^2}{x_1^2 + x_2^2 + x_3^2} \le x_u^2 + x_0^2 = |\zeta_u(x)|^2.$$
(3.16)

In the case of the scaled hypercomoplex numbers, using the scaled Euclidean norm we have a similar result:

**Proposition 3.8.** Let  $\Omega_t$  be an open domain in  $\mathbb{H}_t^*$ . For every  $x \in \Omega \subset \mathbb{H}_t^*$  it holds that

$$|\mu_t^{\alpha}|_E^2 = |x|_E^{2\alpha} \left( 1 + \frac{x_0^2}{x_1^2 + |t|(x_2^2 + x_3^2)} \right)^{|\alpha|}, \qquad (3.17)$$

and, in particular, we have:

$$|\mu_{u,t}(x)|_E^2 \le |\zeta_{u,t}(x)|^2, \quad u = 1, 2, 3.$$
 (3.18)

*Proof.* This follows from the fact that  $\frac{x_0}{q}$  has no real part on  $\Omega_t$  and it is easy to check that:

$$|\mu_{u,t}(x)|_E^2 = x_u^2 + \frac{x_u^2 x_0^2}{x_1^2 + |t|(x_2^2 + x_3^2)} \le x_u^2 + \frac{x_0^2}{|t|} = |\zeta_{u,t}(x)|_E^2,$$

for u = 2, 3 and that:

$$|\mu_{1,t}(x)|_E^2 = x_1^2 + \frac{x_1^2 x_0^2}{x_1^2 + |t|(x_2^2 + x_3^2)} \le x_1^2 + x_0^2 = |\zeta_{1,t}(x)|_E^2,$$

**Proposition 3.9.** For any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , the function  $q_t^n$  is in ker  $V_t$  and that, moreover,

$$q_t^n = \sum_{|\alpha|=n} \mu_t^{\alpha} c_{\alpha,n}$$

where, with  $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3)$ ,

$$c_{\alpha,n} = \frac{n!}{\alpha!} i^{\times \alpha_1} \times j_t^{\times \alpha_2} \times k_t^{\times \alpha_3}, \qquad (3.19)$$

where the symmetric product is taken among all the products of the units  $\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{u}}$ .

*Proof.* In  $\mathbb{H}_t^*$  we have

$$q_t^n = (x_0 + \dot{q_t})^n$$
$$= \left(1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q_t}}\right)^n (\vec{q_t})^n$$
$$= \left(1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q_t}}\right)^n \left(\sum_{|\alpha|=n} x^\alpha c_{\alpha,n}\right)$$
$$= \sum_{|\alpha|=n} x^\alpha \left(1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q_t}}\right)^n c_{\alpha,n},$$

for some  $c_{\alpha,n} \in \mathbb{H}_t$  which can be expressed in term of symmetrized products as in (3.19) by known formulas.

We note that (3.19) does not take into account the Cayley table of multiplication for the quaternions.

#### 3.2. Left Regular Functions on $\mathbb{H}_t$ Where $t \neq 0$ in $\mathbb{R}$

In this section, we review some main results of [8], providing motivations of our works. Let  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\mathbb{H}_t = \operatorname{span}_{\mathbb{R}}(\{1, i, j_t, k_t\})$ , the *t*-scaled hypercomplexes. We consider functions,

$$f:\mathbb{H}_t\to\mathbb{H}_t$$

in the *t*-scaled hypercomplex variable,

$$w = x_0 + x_1 i + x_2 j_t + x_3 k_t, \text{ with } x_l \in \mathbb{R},$$

for all l = 0, 1, 2, 3. Especially, we are interested in  $\mathbb{R}$ -differentiable functions on an open connected set  $\Omega$  of the *t*-hypercomplex  $\mathbb{R}$ -space  $\mathbb{H}_t$ . For motivations, see e.g., [17,18,29,36] and [40].

**Definition 3.10.** Let  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  be fixed, and  $U \subset \mathbb{H}_t$ , an open subset. Define a set,

 $\mathcal{F}_{t.U} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \left\{ f : \mathbb{H}_t \to \mathbb{H}_t \, | \, f \text{ is } \mathbb{R} \text{-differentiable on } U \, \right\}.$ 

Remark that the openness on  $\mathbb{H}_t$ , here, is determined by the semi-norm topology for  $\mathbb{H}_t$  in terms of the semi-norm  $\|.\|_t$  of (2.1.10), for a fixed  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . We first, let  $t \neq 0$  in  $\mathbb{R}$ , and  $\mathcal{F}_{t,U}$ , the family of  $\mathbb{R}$ -differentiable functions on an open subset U of the t-scaled hypercomplexes  $\mathbb{H}_t$ . Define the differential operators  $\nabla_t$  and  $\nabla_t^{\circledast}$  on  $\mathcal{F}_{t,U}$  by

$$\nabla_t = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_0} + i \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} - j_t \frac{\operatorname{sign}(t)}{\sqrt{|t|}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} - k_t \frac{\operatorname{sign}(t)}{\sqrt{|t|}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_3}, \quad (3.20)$$

and

$$\nabla_t^{\circledast} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_0} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} i + \frac{\operatorname{sign}(t)}{\sqrt{|t|}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} j_t + \frac{\operatorname{sign}(t)}{\sqrt{|t|}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_3} k_t, \qquad (3.21)$$

where

sign 
$$(t) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } t > 0 \\ -1 & \text{if } t < 0, \end{cases}$$

for all  $t \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ .

The definitions (3.20) and (3.21) of the differential operators  $\nabla_t$  and  $\nabla_t^{\circledast}$  on  $\mathcal{F}_{t,U}$  generalizes those on  $\mathcal{F}_{-1}$  (the quaternionic case) and those on  $\mathcal{F}_1$  (the split-quaternionic case), studied in [17–19,29,36]

**Theorem 3.11.** If  $\nabla_t$  and  $\nabla_t^{\circledast}$  are the differential operators of (3.20) and (3.21), then

$$\nabla_t^{\circledast} \nabla_t = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_0^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_1^2} - \operatorname{sign}(t) \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_2^2} - \operatorname{sign}(t) \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_3^2}$$
(3.22)

*Proof.* See [8] for details.

By (3.22), one obtains the following corollary.

**Corollary 3.12.** Let  $\nabla_t$  and  $\nabla_t^{\circledast}$  be the differential operators on  $\mathcal{F}_t$ , and  $\Delta_t$ , the t-Laplacian. Then

$$\Delta_t = \begin{cases} \Delta_{-1} = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_0^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_1^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_2^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_3^2} & \text{if } t < 0 \\ \\ \Delta_1 = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_0^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_1^2} - \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_2^2} - \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_3^2} & \text{if } t > 0. \end{cases}$$

*Proof.* It is proven by (3.22), whenever  $t \neq 0$  in  $\mathbb{R}$ .

**Definition 3.13.** Let  $\nabla_t$  be the operator 3.20 on  $\mathcal{F}_{t,U}$ , and  $f \in \mathcal{F}_{t,U}$ . If

$$\nabla_t f = \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_0} + i \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_1} - j_t \frac{\operatorname{sign}(t)}{\sqrt{|t|}} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_2} - k_t \frac{\operatorname{sign}(t)}{\sqrt{|t|}} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_3} = 0,$$

then f is said to be left t(-scaled)-regular on U. If

$$f\nabla_t = \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_0} + \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_1}i - \frac{\mathrm{sign}\ (t)}{\sqrt{|t|}}\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_2}j_t - \frac{\mathrm{sign}\ (t)}{\sqrt{|t|}}\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_3}k_t = 0,$$

then f is said to be right t(-scaled)-regular on U. If  $f \in \mathcal{F}_{t,U}$  is both left and right t-regular, then it is called t(-scaled)-regular.

While, a function  $f \in \mathcal{F}_{t,U}$  is t(-scaled)-harmonic, if

$$\Delta_t f = \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x_0^2} + \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x_1^2} - \operatorname{sign}(t) \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x_2^2} - \operatorname{sign}(t) \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x_3^2} = 0,$$

where  $\Delta_t$  is the *t*-Laplacian (3.22).

The following theorem illustrates the relation between t-regularity and t-harmonicity.

**Theorem 3.14.** Let  $f \in \mathcal{F}_{t,U}$ , for  $U \in \mathcal{T}_t$  in  $\mathbb{H}_t$ . Then if f is left t-regular on U, it is t-harmonic on U.

*Proof.* If f is left t-regular in  $\mathcal{F}_{t,U}$ , then  $\nabla_t f = 0$  on U, and hence,

$$\Delta_t f = \nabla_t^{\circledast} \left( \nabla_t f \right) = \nabla_t^{\circledast} \left( 0 \right) = 0$$

implying the t-harmonicity of f on U.

In Definition 3.6 we have introduced the entire  $\mathbb{R}$ -differentiable functions  $\{\zeta_l\}_{l=1}^3 \subset \mathcal{F}_{t,\mathbb{H}_t}$ , associated to a  $\mathbb{H}_t$ -variable  $q_t = x_0 + x_1 i + x_2 j_t + x_3 k_t$ , with  $x_l \in \mathbb{R}, 0 \leq l \leq 3$ . In [8] the following result was proven:

 $\square$ 

**Theorem 3.15.** If  $\zeta_{l,t}$  are the functions (3.13) in  $\mathcal{F}_{t,\mathbb{H}_t}$ , then  $\zeta_{l,t}$  are t-harmonic and t-regular on  $\mathbb{H}_t$ ,  $\forall l = 1, 2, 3$ .

Now, define the so-called symmetrized product on  $\mathbb{H}_t$ . One can do that since the  $\mathbb{R}$ -vector space  $\mathbb{H}_t$  has a well-defined vector-multiplication  $(\cdot) = (\cdot_t)$ .

**Definition 3.16.** Let  $h_1, ..., h_N \in \mathbb{H}_t$ , for  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then the symmetrized product of  $h_1, ..., h_N$  is defined by a new hypercomplex number,

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} h_n \stackrel{\text{denote}}{=} h_1 \times \dots \times h_N \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \frac{1}{N!} \sum_{\sigma \in S_N} h_{\sigma(1)} h_{\sigma(2)} \dots h_{\sigma(N)}, \quad (3.23)$$

where  $S_N$  is the symmetric group over  $\{1, ..., N\}$ .

Remark 3.17. Recall that we are considering the cases where  $t \neq 0$  in  $\mathbb{R}$ , however, the symmetrized product (×) of (3.23) is well-defined for "all"  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , including the case where t = 0.

Let  $f_1, ..., f_N : \mathbb{H}_t \to \mathbb{H}_t$  be functions for  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ . By applying (3.23), define a symmetrized-product function of  $f_1, ..., f_N$  by

$$\sum_{n=1}^{N} f_n = \frac{1}{N!} \sum_{\sigma \in S_N} f_{\sigma(1)} f_{\sigma(2)} \dots f_{\sigma(N)}, \qquad (3.24)$$

where

$$\left(f_{\sigma(1)}f_{\sigma(2)}...f_{\sigma(N)}\right)(h) = f_{\sigma(1)}(h)...f_{\sigma(N)}(h), \ \forall h \in \mathbb{H}_t,$$

for all  $\sigma \in S_N$ . So, one obtains

1

$$f_j^{(n)} = \underbrace{f_j \times f_j \times \dots \times f_j}_{n\text{-times}} = f_j^n, \ \forall n \in \mathbb{N},$$

where we define  $f^0$  to be:

 $f^{(0)} = 1$ , the constant 1-function on  $\mathbb{H}_t$ ,

for all functions  $f : \mathbb{H}_t \to \mathbb{H}_t$ , where  $1 = 1 + 0i + 0j_t + 0k_t \in \mathbb{H}_t$ .

**Definition 3.18.** Let  $\mathbf{n} \stackrel{\text{denote}}{=} (n_1, n_2, n_3) \in \mathbb{N}_0^3$  be a triple of numbers in  $\mathbb{N}_0 = \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ , and let  $\{\zeta_l\}_{l=1}^3$  be the *t*-harmonic *t*-regular functions of (3.13). Define a new function  $\zeta^{\mathbf{n}} \in \mathcal{F}_{1,\mathbb{H}_t}$  by

$$\zeta^{\mathbf{n}} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \frac{1}{\mathbf{n}!} \left( \zeta_1^{(n_1)} \times \zeta_2^{(n_2)} \times \zeta_3^{(n_3)} \right), \tag{3.25}$$

where

$$\mathbf{n}! = (n_1!) (n_2!) (n_3!) \in \mathbb{N}_2$$

and

$$\zeta_{l+1}^{(n_l)} = \underbrace{\zeta_{l+1} \times \zeta_{l+1} \times \dots \times \zeta_{l+1}}_{n_l \text{-times}} = \zeta_{l+1}^{n_l}, \ \forall l = 1, 2, 3$$

**Theorem 3.19.** Let  $\mathbf{n} = (n_1, n_2, n_3) \in \mathbb{N}_0^3$ , and let  $\zeta^{\mathbf{n}} \in \mathcal{F}_{t,\mathbb{H}_t}$  be the function (3.25). Then it is a t-harmonic t-regular function, i.e.,

$$\zeta^{\mathbf{n}} \nabla_t = \nabla_t \zeta^{\mathbf{n}} = 0, \text{ and } \Delta_t \zeta^{\mathbf{n}} = 0, \text{ on } \mathbb{H}_t.$$

 $\square$ 

*Proof.* Theorem 3.19 follows from Theorem 3.14. See [8] for details.  $\Box$ 

By Theorem 3.19, all functions  $\{\zeta^{\mathbf{n}} : \mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{N}_0^3\}$  of (3.25) are *t*-harmonic *t*-regular functions on  $\mathbb{H}_t$ . We will now see that they also generate the space of *t*-regular functions in this case.

In [8] the authors have proven the following:

**Theorem 3.20.** Let  $t \neq 0$  in  $\mathbb{R}$ , and  $f \in \mathcal{F}_{t,U}$ , where  $0 = 0 + 0i + 0j_t + 0k_t \in U$ in  $\mathbb{H}_t$ . If f is  $\mathbb{R}$ -analytic on U, then

f is left t-regular on U,

if and only if

$$f = f(0) + \sum_{\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{N}^3} \zeta^{\mathbf{n}} f_{\mathbf{n}}, \qquad (3.26)$$

with

$$f_{\mathbf{n}} = \frac{1}{\mathbf{n}!} \frac{\partial^{n_1+n_2+n_3} f}{\partial x_1^{n_1} \partial x_2^{n_2} \partial x_3^{n_3}} \left( 0 \right), \; \forall \mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{N}^3.$$

*Proof.* See [8] for details.

Note that if t < 0, then the  $\mathbb{R}$ -analyticity of a *t*-regular function  $f \in \mathcal{F}_{t,U}$  is automatically guaranteed by (3.26). Thus, if t < 0 in  $\mathbb{R}$  then, without the  $\mathbb{R}$ -analyticity assumption of f, the above characterization (3.26) holds. However, if  $t \ge 0$ , then the  $\mathbb{R}$ -analyticity assumption is needed in (3.26). See e.g., [8].

*Remark 3.21.* Please note that for the Fueter operator in the case of split quaternions other notations exist in literature and we write the equivalence of notation in this table:

	This paper	Notation in paper [17]
Variables	$x_3$	$x_1$
	$x_1$	$x_3$
Hypercomplex basis	i	i
	$j_1$	$k_2$
	$k_1$	$k_1$
Differential operator	$ abla_1$	$ abla^+_{\mathbb{R}}$
	$rac{\partial}{\partial x_0} + irac{\partial}{\partial x_1} - j_1rac{\partial}{\partial x_2} - k_1rac{\partial f}{\partial x_3}$	$ \nabla_{\mathbb{R}}^+ \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial x_0} - k_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} - k_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} + $
	$k_1 \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_2}$	$i\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_2}$
Fueter vari-	$\zeta_{1,1}(q_1) = x_1 - x_0 i$	$\zeta_1(x) = x_1 + x_0 k_1$
ables $(3.5)-$		
(3.7), p. 332		
of [17]		
	$\zeta_{2,1}(q_1) = x_2 + x_0 j_1$	$\zeta_2(x) = x_2 + x_0 k_2$
	$\zeta_{3,1}(q_1) = x_3 + x_0 k_1$	$\zeta_3(x) = x_3 - x_0 i$

In general, other linear changes of variables can be considered for the setting of Fueter variables, for example in [12].

### 4. Hardy Space and Interpolation for the First Conjugate $\circledast$

#### 4.1. Prelude

The Hardy space  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{D})$  is the reproducing kernel Hilbert space of functions analytic in the open unit disk and with reproducing  $\frac{1}{1-z\overline{w}}$ . It is also the unique (up to a positive multiplicative factor in the inner product) Hilbert space of functions analytic in  $\mathbb{D}$  such that  $M_z^* = R_0$ , where  $M_z$  denotes the operator of multiplication by z and  $R_0$  is the backward-shift operator. Important issues pertaining to the classical theory include the Beurling-Lax theorem, Schur multipliers and related interpolation problems. In the present section we first study the counterparts of this space in the setting of the rings  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$ . For t = -1this was done in [10]. We mention that a difference occured there between the scalar and matrix-valued case in view of the lack of commutativity; see [11, p. 1767 (and in particular (62.38)]). The counterpart of the Hardy space is now the following real Hilbert space:

**Definition 4.1.** We denote by  $\mathbf{H}_2^t$  the space of power series of the form

$$f(q_t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n \alpha_n \tag{4.1}$$

where  $\alpha_0, \alpha_1, \ldots \in \mathbb{H}_t$  and such that

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \|\alpha_n\|_E^2 < \infty \tag{4.2}$$

where the scaled norm (2.5) is used in (4.2).

Note that (4.2) is induced by the inner-product

$$[f,g]_E = 2\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \operatorname{Re}\left(a_n \overline{c_n} + |t| b_n \overline{d_n}\right)$$

where

$$\alpha_n = a_n + b_n j_t, \quad n = 0, 1, \dots$$

and with  $g(q_t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n \gamma_n$ ,

$$\gamma_n = c_n + d_n j_t, \quad n = 0, 1, \dots$$

We also note that, under (4.2), the power series converges for  $||q_t|| < 1$ , where  $|| \cdot ||$  is the operator norm. The case t = -1, corresponding to the quaternionic setting, was first studied in [10]. In that work and related ones, one views the Hardy space as a quaternionic Hilbert space. This is not possible for general t since  $\mathbb{H}_t$  will not be a skew field in general. We will endow  $\mathbf{H}_2^t$  with two real symmetric forms, namely

$$[f,g]_{\circledast} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} [g_n, f_n]_{\circledast},$$
(4.3)

and

$$[f,g]_{[*]} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} [g_n, f_n]_{[*]}$$
(4.4)

where 
$$f(q_t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n f_n$$
 and  $g(q_t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n g_n$  are elements of  $\mathbf{H}_2^t$ .

**Theorem 4.2.** The space  $\mathbf{H}_{2}^{t}$  endowed with either of the form (4.3) or (4.4) is a Krein space. In case of (4.3) it is a Hilbert space for t < 0. When using the form (4.3) we denote this space by  $\mathbf{H}_{2,\circledast}^{t}$ , and by  $\mathbf{H}_{2,[*]}^{t}$  when using (4.4).

*Proof.* The claim follows from the corresponding structure of the coefficient space  $\mathbb{H}_t$  from Theorems 2.14 and 2.20 endowed with the forms

$$[p_t, q_t]_{\circledast} = \operatorname{Tr} (q_t^{\circledast} p_t) = a\overline{c} + \overline{a}c - t(b\overline{d} + \overline{b}d)$$

and

$$[p_t, q_t]_{[*]} = \operatorname{Tr} (q_t^{[*]} p_t) = ac + \overline{ac} - t(bd + \overline{bd}),$$

where

$$q_t = \begin{pmatrix} a \ tb \\ \overline{b} \ \overline{a} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad p_t = \begin{pmatrix} c \ td \\ \overline{d} \ \overline{c} \end{pmatrix}.$$

**Definition 4.3.** We denote by  $\mathbf{H}_{2,\circledast}$  the Hardy space  $\mathbf{H}_2^t$  endowed with the form (4.3) and by  $\mathbf{H}_{2,[*]}^t$  the Hardy space  $\mathbf{H}_2^t$  endowed with the form (4.4), which, by Theorem 4.2, become Hilbert and Krein spaces, respectively, depending on sign t.

These Hilbert and Krein spaces are studied in Sects. 4.2 and 5 respectively.

In several complex variables, one considers in Schur analysis the Arveson space rather than the Hardy space of the ball. In the last part of the present section we present the analog of the Arveson space for the  $\mu_t$  variables. In the cases t = 1 this was first done in [19].

#### 4.2. The Hardy Space in One Variable: Case 1

In this subsection, we consider the Hardy space  $\mathbf{H}_{2,\circledast}^t$  when the adjoint  $\circledast$  is considered,

$$q_t^{\circledast} = \begin{pmatrix} \overline{a} & -tb\\ -\overline{b} & a \end{pmatrix}. \tag{4.5}$$

We recall that  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$  endowed with the inner product (2.16)

$$[p_t, q_t]_{\circledast} = \operatorname{Tr} (q_t^{\circledast} p_t)$$

is a real Pontryagin space of dimension 4 and index of negativity 2, in the case t > 0 and it is a Hilbert space when t < 0; see Lemma 2.14.

In what follows we will use the spaces  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$  and  $\mathbb{H}_t$  interchangeably, for example the matrix  $I_2$  in the first becomes the number 1 in the second.

**Theorem 4.4.**  $\mathbf{H}_{2,\circledast}^t$  is a reproducing kernel Krein right  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$ -module (or an  $\mathbb{H}_t$ -module) with reproducing kernel

$$K(q_t, p_t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n p_t^{\circledast n}$$

$$\tag{4.6}$$

when endowed with the form (we use the same notation as for  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$ ; see (4.5))

$$[f,g]_{\circledast} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \delta_n^{\circledast} \gamma_n \tag{4.7}$$

with  $g(q_t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n \delta_n$ , and associated inner product (indefinite when t > 0 and definite when t < 0)

$$\operatorname{Tr}[f,g]_{\circledast} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \operatorname{Tr} \delta_n^{\circledast} \gamma_n \tag{4.8}$$

*Proof.* The space of sequences  $(\gamma_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}_0}$  of elements of  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$  such that (4.2) is in force is a real Hilbert space, and so is  $\mathbf{H}_{2,\circledast}^t$  by transfer of structure. The norm (4.2) corresponds to the inner product

$$\langle f,g \rangle = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \operatorname{Tr} \, \delta_n^* \gamma_n$$

where  $g(q_t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n \delta_n$ . To check the reproducing kernel property, we write, with f as in (4.1) and the kernel defined by (4.6):

$$\operatorname{Tr} [f(\cdot), K(\cdot, p_t)\alpha]_{\circledast} = \operatorname{Tr} \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha^{\circledast} p_t^n \gamma_n\right) = \operatorname{Tr} \alpha^{\circledast} f(p_t).$$

**Theorem 4.5.** The operator  $M_{q_t}$  of star-multiplication on the left by  $q_t$  is a continuous Krein space isometry, with adjoint the backward-shift operator

$$(M_{q_t}^*f)(q_t) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} q_t^{n-1} \alpha_n, \quad with \quad f(q_t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n \alpha_n.$$
 (4.9)

We also have that  $M_{q_t}^* M_{q_t} f = f$  for  $f \in \mathbf{H}_{2, \circledast}^t$ .

*Proof.* We have with f and g as above,

$$[M_{q_t}f,g]_{\circledast} = \operatorname{Tr}\left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \delta_{n+1}^{\circledast} \gamma_n\right)$$
$$= [f, M_{q_t}^*g]_{\circledast}.$$

#### 4.3. Interpolation in the Complex Case

In the following subsections we begin a study of interpolation in the spaces  $\mathbf{H}_{2,\circledast}^t$  and  $\mathbf{H}_{2,[*]}^t$ . In the classical complex scalar setting, the most simple problem would be:

Given N different points  $a_1, \ldots, a_N$  in the open unit disk, describe the set of functions f in the Hardy space such that

$$f(a_j) = 0, \quad j = 1, \dots, N.$$
 (4.10)

It is a simple exercise, and a particular instance of Beurling's theorem, that the set of solutions of this problem consists of the functions of the form f(z) = b(z)g(z) where  $b(z) = \prod_{n=1}^{N} \frac{z-a_n}{1-z\overline{a_n}}$  and g runs through the Hardy

space. To sharpen the difference between the following subsection and the following two ones we present the following well-known result from J-theory (see [41, Theorem 1, p. 145, p. 146 line 5 and Theorem 2, p. 146], [31,46] and [2, Lemma 4.1.7, p. 80] for more information).

**Lemma 4.6.** Let  $E_1, E_2 \in \mathbb{C}^{u \times v}$  be strict contractions. Then, the matrices

$$(I_u - E_1 E_1^*)^{-1/2} (E_2 + E_1) (I_v + E_1^* E_2)^{-1} (I_v - E_1^* E_1)^{1/2}$$
(4.11)

and

$$(I_u - E_1 E_1^*)^{1/2} (I_v + E_2 E_1^*) (E_2 + E_1) (I_v - E_1^* E_1)^{-1/2}$$
(4.12)

are also strictly contractive.

Assume that u = v and  $E_1E_1^* = cI_u$  for some real number c > 0. Then,  $E_1^*E_1 = cI_u$  and

$$(E_2 + E_1)(I_v + E_1^* E_2)^{-1} (4.13)$$

and

$$(I_v + E_1^* E_2)^{-1} (E_2 + E_1)$$
(4.14)

are strictly contractive.

When u = 1 and replacing  $E_1 = -a \in \mathbb{C}^{1 \times v}$  and  $E_2 = z \in \mathbb{C}^{1 \times v}$  such that  $zz^* < 1$  we get the counterpart of the Blaschke product in the unit ball of  $\mathbb{C}^v$ ,

$$b_a(z) = \sqrt{1 - aa^*}(z - a)(I_v - a^*z)^{-1}(I_v - a^*a)^{-1/2}$$

which satisfies the formula (with  $w \in \mathbb{C}^{1 \times v}$  such that  $ww^* < 1$ )

$$\frac{1 - aa^*}{(1 - za^*)(1 - aw^*)} = \frac{1 - b_a(z)b_a(w)^*}{1 - zw^*}$$
(4.15)

see [42].

We remark that Blaschke factors, and more generally Blaschke products, are examples of rational functions taking unitary (or co-isometric in the case of  $\mathbb{C}^d$ ) values on the boundary.

#### 4.4. Blaschke Factor and Interpolation: Case 1

Since  $\alpha \alpha^{\circledast}$  is a scalar we can use (4.13) to define the  $\circledast$ -Blaschke factor.

**Definition 4.7.** Assume  $\|\alpha\| < 1$ . We define the  $\circledast$ -Blaschke factor with a zero at  $\alpha$  by:

$$b_{\alpha}(q_t) = (q_t - \alpha) \star (1 - q_t \alpha^{\circledast})^{-\star}, \qquad (4.16)$$

where  $S^{-\star}$  represents the  $\star$  inverse of S.

**Lemma 4.8.** Let  $\alpha \in \mathcal{H}_2^t$  of norm strictly less that 1. Then,

$$b_{\alpha}(q_t) = -\alpha + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} q_t^n (I_2 - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast}) \alpha^{\circledast(n-1)}$$

$$(4.17)$$

where the convergence in in  $\mathbb{C}^{2\times 2}$ .

*Proof.* For  $q_t = xI_2$  where x is real and of absolute value less than 1 we have

$$b_{\alpha}(q_t) = (x - \alpha) \left( \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} x^n \alpha^{\circledast n} \right)$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} x^{n+1} \alpha^{\circledast n} - \alpha - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x^n \alpha \alpha^{\circledast n}$$
$$= -\alpha + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x^n (\alpha^{\circledast (n-1)} - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast n})$$
$$= -\alpha + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x^n (I_2 - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast}) \alpha^{\circledast (n-1)}$$
$$= -\alpha + (\det \alpha) \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x^n \alpha^{\circledast (n-1)}$$

and hence the result by Proposition 2.29.

As in the slice-hyperholomorphic setting we have the following new phenomenon:

**Lemma 4.9.** Let  $\alpha$  of norm strictly less than 1. It holds that:

$$(b_{\alpha} \star b_{\alpha^{\textcircled{B}}})(q_t) = \frac{q_t^2 - 2q_t \operatorname{Re}\alpha + \det \alpha}{q_t^2 \det \alpha - 2q_t \operatorname{Re}\alpha + 1}$$
(4.18)

Proof. We can write

$$(b_{\alpha} \star b_{\alpha^{\circledast}})(q_t) = (q_t - \alpha) \star \underbrace{(1 - q_t \alpha^{\circledast})^{-\star} \star (q_t - \alpha^{\circledast})}_{\star - \text{commute; see Proposition 2.37}} \star (1 - q_t \alpha^{\circledast})^{-\star}$$

$$= (q_t - \alpha) \star (q_t - \alpha^{\circledast}) \star (1 - q_t \alpha^{\circledast})^{-\star} \star (1 - q_t \alpha)^{-\star}$$

$$= (q_t^2 - 2q_t \text{Re } \alpha) + \alpha \alpha^{\circledast}) \star (1 - q_t \alpha^{\circledast})^{-\star} \star (1 - q_t \alpha)^{-\star}$$

$$= (q_t^2 - 2q_t \text{Re } \alpha) + \alpha \alpha^{\circledast}) \star ((1 - q_t \alpha) \star (1 - q_t \alpha^{\circledast}))^{-\star}$$

$$= (q_t^2 - 2q_t \text{Re } \alpha) + \alpha \alpha^{\circledast}) \star (q_t^2 \det \alpha - 2q_t \text{Re } \alpha + 1)^{-\star},$$

and hence the result since the elements of the quotients have real coefficients, and hence the *star*-product can be replaced by the usual product.  $\Box$ 

In view of the following theorem note that there is a technical difficulty: a densely defined isometry in a Krein (as opposed to Hilbert) space need not be continuous, and so it is not enough to check isometry on a dense set.

**Theorem 4.10.** The operator  $M_{b_{\alpha}}$  of of  $\star$ -multiplication by  $b_{\alpha}$  on the left is a continuous isometry from the Krein space  $\mathbf{H}_{2,\circledast}$  into itself.

*Proof.* We divide the proof into steps.

STEP 1:  $M_{b_a}$  is an isometry on a dense set. Indeed, since

$$(M_{b_{\alpha}}q_{t}^{u}\gamma)(M_{b_{\alpha}}q_{t}^{v}\delta)^{\circledast} = \delta^{\circledast}[M_{b_{\alpha}}q_{t}^{u}\gamma, M_{b_{\alpha}}q_{t}^{v}]_{\circledast}\gamma$$

we can assume  $\gamma = \delta = I_2$ . We first assume u = v. We have

$$\begin{split} &[M_{b_{\alpha}}q_{t}^{u}, M_{b_{\alpha}}q_{t}^{u}]_{\circledast} \\ &= \left[-q_{t}^{u}\alpha + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty}q_{t}^{n+u}(I_{2} - \alpha\alpha^{\circledast})\alpha^{\circledast(n-1)}, -q_{t}^{u}\alpha + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty}q_{t}^{m+u}(I_{2} - \alpha\alpha^{\circledast})\alpha^{\circledast(m-1)}\right]_{\circledast} \\ &= \alpha^{\circledast}\alpha + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\alpha^{n-1}(I_{2} - \alpha\alpha^{\circledast})^{2}\alpha^{\circledast(n-1)} \\ &= \alpha^{\circledast}\alpha + (I_{2} - \alpha\alpha^{\circledast})^{2}(I_{2} - \alpha\alpha^{\circledast})^{-1} \\ &= I_{2}, \end{split}$$

where we have used that  $\alpha \alpha^{\circledast} = \alpha^{\circledast} \alpha$  to compute

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \alpha^{n-1} \alpha^{\circledast(n-1)} = (I_2 - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast})^{-1}$$

for  $\|\alpha\| < 1$  and the fact that  $[q_t^{n+u}, q_t^{m+u}]_{\circledast} = 0$  if  $m \neq n$ .

We now assume  $u \neq v$ . We now have  $[q_t^{n+u}q_t^{m+v}]_{\circledast} = 0$  unless n + u = m + v. Without loss of generality we will assume u > v, so that m = n + (u - v) > n and write:

$$\begin{split} &[M_{b\alpha}q_t^u, M_{b\alpha}q_t^v]_{\circledast} \\ &= \left[ -q_t^u \alpha + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} q_t^{n+u}(I_2 - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast}) \alpha^{\circledast(n-1)}, -q_t^v \alpha + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} q_t^{m+v}(I_2 - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast}) \alpha^{\circledast(m-1)} \right]_{\circledast} \\ &= \underbrace{ \left[ -q_t^u \alpha, \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} q_t^{m+v}(I_2 - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast}) \alpha^{\circledast(m-1)} \right]_{\circledast}}_{\text{only } m = u - v \text{ contributes}} + \underbrace{ \left[ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} q_t^{n+u}(I_2 - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast}) \alpha^{\circledast(n-1)}, -q_t^v \alpha \right]_{\circledast}}_{= 0 \text{ since } n + u > v} \\ &+ \left[ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} q_t^{n+u}(I_2 - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast}) \alpha^{\circledast(n-1)}, \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} q_t^{n+u}(I_2 - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast}) \alpha^{\circledast(n+u-v-1)} \right]_{\circledast} \\ &= -(I_2 - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast}) \alpha^{u-v} + \alpha^{u-v}(I_2 - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast})^2 \left[ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} q_t^{n+u} \alpha^{\circledast(n-1)}, \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} q_t^{n+u} \alpha^{\circledast(n-1)} \right]_{\circledast} \\ &= -(I_2 - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast}) \alpha^{u-v} + (I_2 - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast})^2 \alpha^{u-v}(I_2 - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast})^{-1} \\ &= 0. \end{split}$$

STEP 2:  $M_{b_a}$  is continuous. We note that  $M_{b_a} = M_{q_t-\alpha} \circ M_{(1-q_t\alpha^{\circledast})^{-1}}$ . The result then follows from the fact that  $M_{q_t}$  is continuous of norm equal to 1 and so

$$\|M_{(1-q_t\alpha^{\circledast})^{-1}}\| \le \frac{1}{1-\|\alpha\|} < \infty$$
(4.19)

It follows that  $M_{b_a}$  has a continuous extension to  $\mathbf{H}_2^t$ , which is an isometry since the form (4.3) is continuous with respect to the inner product of  $\mathbf{H}_2^t$ .  $\Box$ 

**Theorem 4.11.** A function  $f \in \mathbf{H}_{2, \circledast}$  vanishes at  $\alpha$  if and only if it can be written as  $f = b_{\alpha} \star g$  where  $g \in \mathbf{H}_{2, \circledast}$  and, moreover

$$[f,f]_{\circledast} = [g,g]_{\circledast}$$

*Proof.* We proceed in a number of steps; the arguments are an adaptation of the classical arguments to the present setting. We denote by  $\mathfrak{M}$  the real linear space spanned by the functions  $(1 - q_t \alpha)^{-*} b$ , where b varies in  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$ .

STEP 1: For any  $g \in \mathbf{H}_2^t$  and  $\alpha$  such that  $\|\alpha\| < 1$  (operator norm), we have

$$(b_{\alpha} \star g)(\alpha) = 0. \tag{4.20}$$

Indeed, with  $h(q_t) = (I_2 - q_t \alpha)^{-\star} \star g(q_t) \stackrel{\text{ref}}{=} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t t^n h_n$  we can write  $b_{\alpha}(q_t) \star g(q_t) = (q_t - \alpha) \star h(q_t)$  $= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} ((q_t - \alpha) \star q_t^n) h_n$ 

$$=\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}(q_t^{n+1}-q_t^n\alpha)h_n$$

which vanishes for  $q_t = \alpha$ .

STEP 2: We have  $\mathfrak{M} \subset \mathbf{H}_2^t \ominus b_a \star \mathbf{H}_2^t$ .

It suffices to verify that  $\mathfrak{M}$  and  $b_a \star \mathbf{H}_2^t$  are orthogonal. For  $f \in \mathbf{H}_2^t$  we have

$$[f(q_t), (1 - q_t \alpha)^{-\star} b]_{\circledast} = \operatorname{Tr} b^{\circledast} f(\alpha) = [f(\alpha), b]_{\circledast}$$

and so the claim follows from Step 1.

STEP 3: We have  $\mathfrak{M} \supset \mathbf{H}_2^t \ominus b_a \star \mathbf{H}_2^t$ .

We follow the proof of Proposition 3.10 in [9]. Let  $g(q_t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n g_n \in$  $\mathbf{H}_2^t \ominus B_a \star \mathbf{H}_2^t$ . Then for every  $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$ ,

$$[g, b_a \star q_t^k]_{\circledast} = 0.$$

Using (4.17) we can write

$$[g, b_a \star q_t^k]_{\circledast} = -\alpha^{\circledast} g_k + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (I_2 - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast}) \alpha^{j-1} g_{k+j}.$$

Hence,

$$\alpha^{\circledast} g_{k} = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (I_{2} - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast}) \alpha^{j-1} g_{k+j}$$

$$= (I_{2} - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast}) g_{k+1} + (I_{2} - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast}) \alpha g_{k+2}$$

$$+ (I_{2} - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast 2}) \alpha^{2} g_{k+3} + \cdots, \quad k = 0, 1, \dots$$
(4.21)

We multiply on the left these equalities by  $\alpha$  to obtain

$$\alpha \alpha^{*} g_k = \alpha (I_2 - \alpha \alpha^{*}) g_{k+1} + \alpha (I_2 - \alpha \alpha^{*}) \alpha g_{k+2} + \alpha (I_2 - \alpha \alpha^{*}) \alpha^2 g_{k+3} + \cdots, \quad k = 0, 1, \dots$$

For k + 1 instead of k this identity becomes

$$\alpha \alpha^{\circledast} g_{k+1} = \alpha (I_2 - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast}) g_{k+2} + \alpha (I_2 - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast}) \alpha g_{k+3} + \alpha (I_2 - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast}) \alpha g_{k+4} + \cdots, \quad k = 0, 1, \dots$$

Subtracting from (4.21)

$$\alpha^{\circledast} g_k = (I_2 - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast}) g_{k+1} + (I_2 - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast}) \alpha g_{k+2} + (I_2 - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast})^2 \alpha^2 g_{k+3} + c \dots, \quad k = 0, 1, \dots$$

we obtain

$$\alpha \alpha^{\circledast} g_{k+1} - \alpha^{\circledast} g_k = -(I_2 - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast})g_{k+1}, \quad k = 0, 1, \dots$$

and so

$$g_{k+1} = \alpha^{\circledast} g_k, \quad k = 0, 1, \dots$$

Thus  $g_k = \alpha^{\circledast k} g_0$ , and

$$g(q_t) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} q_t \alpha^{\circledast k} g_0 = (I_2 - q_t \alpha^{\circledast})^{-\star} g_0 \in \mathfrak{M}.$$

To conclude the proof, we write for  $f \in \mathbf{H}_{2}^{t}$ ,

$$f(q_t) = \underbrace{f(q_t) - (1 - q_t \alpha^{\circledast})^{-\star} (1 - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast}) f(\alpha)}_{\text{vanishesat}\alpha} + \underbrace{(1 - q_t \alpha^{\circledast})^{-\star} (1 - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast}) f(\alpha)}_{\in \mathfrak{M}}$$

We have thus  $f(q_t) - (1 - q_t \alpha^{\circledast})^{-\star} (1 - \alpha \alpha^{\circledast}) f(\alpha) \in b_a \star \mathbf{H}_2^t$ , and the result follows.

Remark 4.12. Unfortunately the previous result cannot be used iteratively because of the non-commutativity. If  $\alpha_1$  and  $\alpha_2 \in \mathbb{H}_t$  are of small neough norm, then we indeed have  $f(q_t) = b_{\alpha_1}(q_1) \star g(q_t)$  when  $f(\alpha_1) = 0$ . On the other hand the condition  $f(\alpha_2) = 0$ , i.e.

$$(b_{\alpha_1}(q_t) \star g(q_t))(\alpha_2) = 0$$

does not translate in a way conducive to computations, even when using Lemma 2.27. Indeed, let  $\alpha_1$  and  $\alpha_2$  be in  $\mathbb{H}_t$  and small enough. Assume that  $f \in \mathbf{H}_{2, \circledast}^t$  is such that  $f(\alpha_1) = 0$ . Then

$$f(q_t) = b_{\alpha_1}(q_t) \star g(q_t)$$

where  $g \in \mathbf{H}_{2,\circledast}^t$ . We now require  $f(\alpha_2) = 0$ . Assuming  $b_{\alpha_1}(\alpha_2)$  invertible, we can write

$$f(\alpha_2) = (b_{\alpha_1}(\alpha_2)) g(\alpha_3)$$

where

$$\alpha_3 = (b_{\alpha_1}(\alpha_2))^{-1} \alpha_2 (b_{\alpha_1}(\alpha_2)) g(\alpha_3) \neq \alpha_2$$

in general. A special case occcurs when  $\alpha_2 = \alpha_1^{\circledast}$ . Then (see Proposition 2.37),

$$b_{\alpha_1}(q_t)b_{\alpha_1^{\circledast}}(q_t) = (q_t - \alpha) \star (1 - q_t \alpha^{\circledast})^{-star} \star (q - \alpha^{ct}) \star (1 - q_t \alpha)^{-\star}$$
$$= (q_t - \alpha) \star (q - \alpha^{ct}) \star (1 - q_t \alpha^{\circledast})^{-star} \star (1 - q_t \alpha)^{-\star}$$
$$= (q_t^2 - 2q_t(\operatorname{Re}\alpha) + \alpha \alpha^{\circledast})(q_t(\alpha \alpha^{\circledast}) - 2q_t(\operatorname{Re}\alpha) + 1)^{-1}$$

and so we have interpolation on the sphere associated to  $\alpha$  (see Definition 2.39 for the latter).

In general one needs to proceed differently, in a global way. The following extension of Theorem 4.11 can be seen as a finite dimensional version of the Beurling–Lax theorem in the present setting. First some notations. We define a matrix  $\mathbf{G}_{\circledast} \in \mathbf{H}_{t}^{N \times N}$  via

$$\mathbf{G}_{\circledast} = \begin{pmatrix} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_1^n \alpha_1^{\circledast n} & \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_1^n \alpha_2^{\circledast n} & \cdots & \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_1^n \alpha_N^{\circledast n} \\ \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_2^n \alpha_1^{\circledast n} & \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_2^n \alpha_2^{\circledast n} & \cdots & \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_2^n \alpha_N^{\circledast n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_N^n \alpha_1^{\circledast n} & \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_N^n \alpha_2^{\circledast n} & \cdots & \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_N^n \alpha_N^{\circledast n} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.22)

where  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \ldots, \alpha_N \in \mathbb{H}_t$  are the interpolation points, assumed to be in the operator unit ball of  $\mathbf{H}_t$ , i.e. such that

$$\|\alpha_j\|_{op} < 1, \quad j = 1, \dots, N.$$
 (4.23)

Then, see Corollary 2.4, the  $\circledast$ -adjoints also are in the operator unit ball, and thus the power series in (5.9) converge.

**Theorem 4.13.** Assume  $\mathbf{G}_{\circledast}$  invertible in  $\mathbb{H}_t^{N \times N}$  and define

$$\Theta(q_t) = 1 - (1 - q_t) \star \left( (1 - q_t \alpha_1^{\circledast})^{-\star} \cdots (1 - q_t \alpha_N^{\circledast})^{-\star} \right) \mathbf{G}_{\circledast}^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} (1 - \alpha_1)^{-1} \\ \vdots \\ (1 - \alpha_N)^{-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.24)

A function  $f \in \mathbf{H}_{2, \circledast}$  vanishes at  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \ldots, \alpha_N$  if it can be written as  $f = b_{\alpha} \star g$  where  $g \in \mathbf{H}_{2, \circledast}$  and, moreover

$$[f,f]_{\circledast} = [g,g]_{\circledast}$$

Before presenting the proof we need some preliminary results. We first note that (4.20) has the following generalization:

**Lemma 4.14.** Assume that  $f \star g$  makes sense and that  $f(\alpha) = 0$ . Then,  $(f \star g)(\alpha) = 0$ .

*Proof.* Let  $f(q_t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n f_n$  and  $g(q_t) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} q_t^m g_m$  where the coefficients  $f_n$  and  $g_m$  being to  $\mathbb{H}_t$ . The claim follows from the formula

$$(f \star g)q_t = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} q_t^m f(q_t)g_m.$$

**Proposition 4.15.** Assume that the points  $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_N$  are in the open unit operator ball of  $\mathbb{H}_t$ , and let

$$A = \operatorname{diag}(\alpha_1^{\circledast}, \dots, \alpha_N^{\circledast})$$
$$C = (1 \ 1 \ \cdots \ 1).$$

The matrix  $\mathbf{G}_\circledast$  is the unique solution of the Stein equation

$$\mathbf{G}_{\circledast} - A^{\circledast} \mathbf{G}_{\circledast} A = C^{\circledast} C. \tag{4.25}$$

and is given by the formula

$$\mathbf{G}_{\circledast} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^{\circledast n} C^{\circledast} C A^n.$$
(4.26)

*Proof.* From the hypothesis on the interpolation points we have  $||A||_{op} < 1$  and the series on the right hand side of (4.26) converges. On the other hand, iterating (4.25) (M - 1)-times we get

$$\mathbf{G}_{\circledast} = \sum_{n=1}^{M} A^{\circledast n} C^{\circledast} C A^n + A^{\circledast (M+1)} \mathbf{G}_{\circledast} A^{(M+1)}$$

The result follows by letting  $M \to \infty$ .

*Proof.* We will proceed in steps and follow arguments from [9]. STEP 1: It holds that  $\Theta(\alpha_j) = 0, \quad j = 1, ..., N$ 

Without loss of generality we consider the case j = 1. We have that

$$\left((1-q_t\alpha_1^{\circledast})^{-\star}\cdots(1-q_t\alpha_N^{\circledast})^{-\star}\right)(\alpha_1)$$

is the first row of the matrix G and that

$$(1 - q_t) \star \left( (1 - q_t \alpha_1^{\circledast})^{-\star} \cdots (1 - q_t \alpha_N^{\circledast})^{-\star} \right) = (1 - \alpha_1) \left( g_{11} \ g_{12} \ldots \ g_{1N} \right).$$

Thus

$$\Theta(\alpha_1) = 1 - (1 - \alpha_1) \left( g_{11} \ g_{12} \dots g_{1N} \right) \mathbf{G}_{\circledast}^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} (1 - \alpha_1)^{-1} \\ \vdots \\ (1 - \alpha_N)^{-1} \end{pmatrix} = 0$$

STEP 2: It holds that

$$\Theta(q_t) = D + q_t C \star (I_{\mathbb{H}_1^N} - q_t A)^{-\star} B \tag{4.27}$$

where (note that A and C were defined earlier in Proposition 4.15)

$$A = \operatorname{diag}(\alpha_1^{\circledast}, \dots, \alpha_N^{\circledast}) \tag{4.28}$$

$$B = (I_{\mathbb{H}_{t}^{N}} - A) \mathbf{G}_{\circledast}^{-1} (I_{\mathbb{H}_{t}^{N}} - A^{\circledast})^{-1} C^{\circledast}.$$
 (4.29)

$$C = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \ 1 \ \cdots \ 1 \end{pmatrix} \tag{4.30}$$

$$D = 1 - C \mathbf{G}_{\circledast}^{-1} (I_{\mathbb{H}_t^N} - A^{\circledast})^{-1} C^{\circledast}.$$
(4.31)

The computations spresented in the next step are used later, see Example 7.8, but we need at this stage equality (4.34) in Step 4.

STEP 3: The following three equalities hold:

$$A^{\circledast}\mathbf{G}_{\circledast}A + C^{\circledast}C = \mathbf{G}_{\circledast}, \qquad (4.32)$$

$$B^{\circledast}\mathbf{G}_{\circledast}A + D^{\circledast}C = 0, \qquad (4.33)$$

$$B^{\circledast}\mathbf{G}_{\circledast}B + D^{\circledast}D = I. \tag{4.34}$$

Indeed, the first equality is the Stein equation (4.25). We now check (4.33) and write

$$B^{\circledast} \mathbf{G}_{\circledast} A + D^{\circledast} C = C(I_N - A)^{-1} \mathbf{G}_{\circledast}^{-1} (I_N - A^{\circledast}) \mathbf{G}_{\circledast} A + (1 - C(I - A)^{-1} \mathbf{G}_{\circledast}^{-1} C^{\circledast}) C = C(I_N - A)^{-1} \mathbf{G}_{\circledast}^{-1} \left\{ (I_N - A^{\circledast}) \mathbf{G}_{\circledast} A + \mathbf{G}_{\circledast} (I_N - A) - C^{\circledast} C \right\} = C(I_N - A)^{-1} \mathbf{G}_{\circledast}^{-1} \left\{ -A^{\circledast} \mathbf{G}_{\circledast} A + \mathbf{G}_{\circledast} - C^{\circledast} C \right\} = 0$$

thanks to the Stein equation (4.25). Finally to check (4.34) we write  $B^{\circledast}\mathbf{G}_{\circledast}B + D^{\circledast}D = C(I_N - A)^{-1}\mathbf{G}_{\circledast}^{-1}(I_N - A^{\circledast})\mathbf{G}_{\circledast}$ 

$$(I_{(\mathbf{H}_{2}^{t})^{N}} - A)\mathbf{G}_{\circledast}^{-1}(I_{(\mathbf{H}_{2}^{t})^{N}} - A^{\circledast})^{-1}C^{\circledast} + (1 - C(I - A)^{-1}\mathbf{G}_{\circledast}^{-1}C^{\circledast})(1 - C\mathbf{G}_{\circledast}^{-1}(I_{(\mathbf{H}_{2}^{t})^{N}} - A^{\circledast})^{-1}C^{\circledast}) = 1 + C(I_{N} - A)^{-1}\mathbf{G}_{\circledast}^{-1} \left\{ (I_{N} - A^{\circledast})\mathbf{G}_{\circledast}(I_{(\mathbf{H}_{2}^{t})^{N}} - A) + (I_{N} - A^{\circledast})\mathbf{G}_{\circledast} - \mathbf{G}_{\circledast}(I_{N} - A) + C^{\circledast}C \right\} \mathbf{G}_{\circledast}^{-1} (I_{(\mathbf{H}_{2}^{t})^{N}} - A^{\circledast})^{-1}C^{\circledast} = 1 + C(I_{N} - A)^{-1}\mathbf{G}_{\circledast}^{-1} \left\{ -\mathbf{G}_{\circledast} + A^{\circledast}\mathbf{G}_{\circledast}A + C^{\circledast}C \right\} \times \mathbf{G}_{\circledast}^{-1}(I_{(\mathbf{H}_{2}^{t})^{N}} - A^{\circledast})^{-1}C^{\circledast} = 0,$$

here too thanks to the Stein equation (4.25).

This follows from (4.19) in the second step of Theorem 4.10 applied to each of the  $\alpha_j$ .

STEP 4: The operator  $M_{\Theta}$  of  $\star$ -multiplication on the left by  $\Theta$  is an isometry from  $\mathbf{H}_{2,\circledast}$  into itself.

The fact that  $M_{\Theta}$  is bounded follows from (4.19) in the second step of Theorem 4.10 applied to each of the  $\alpha_j$ . We now prove that  $M_{\Theta}$  is isometric on polynomials. The continuity of  $M_{\Theta}$  implies then the isometry property on the whole Hardy space. We first remark that  $\Theta = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n \theta_n$  with

$$\theta_n = \begin{cases} D, & n = 0, \\ CA^{n-1}B, & n = 1, 2, \dots \end{cases}$$
(4.35)

So

$$\theta_0^{\circledast}\theta_0 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \theta_n^{\circledast}\theta_n = D^{\circledast}D + B^{\circledast} \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^{\circledast n} C^{\circledast} C A^n\right) B$$
$$= D^{\circledast}B + B^{\circledast} \mathbf{G}_{\circledast} B$$
$$= 1,$$
(4.36)

where we have used (4.34) and the formula (4.26) for  $\mathbf{G}_{\circledast}$ , and for k > 0,

$$\theta_0^{\circledast}\theta_k + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \theta_n^{\circledast}\theta_{n+k} = D^{\circledast}CA^{k-1}B + B^{\circledast} \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^{\circledast n}C^{\circledast}CA^n\right)A^{k-1}B$$
$$= (D^{\circledast}C + B^{\circledast}\mathbf{G}_{\circledast})A^{k-1}B$$

$$= 0,$$
 (4.37)

where we have used (4.33) and here too the formula (4.26) for  $\mathbf{G}_{\circledast}$ .

We follow STEP 1 in the proof of Theorem 4.10 and compute  $[M_{\Theta}q_t^u\gamma, M_{\Theta}q_tv\delta]_{\circledast}$  for  $\gamma = \delta = 1$ . We may, and shall, assume that  $u \geq v$  and set k = u - v. We have

$$\begin{split} [M_{\Theta}q_t^u, M_{\Theta}q_t^v] &= [M_{\Theta}1, M_{\Theta}q_t^v]_{\circledast} \\ &= \left[\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n \theta_n, \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^{n+k} \theta_n\right]_{\circledast} \\ &= \theta_0^{\circledast} \theta_k + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \theta_n^{\circledast} \theta_{n+k} \\ &= \delta_{k,0} \end{split}$$

by the previous step, and hence the result by linearity and continuity.

STEP 5: Let  $\mathfrak{M}$  be the real linear span of the functions  $(1 - q_t \alpha_j)^{-\star} b$ , where  $j = 1, \ldots, N$  and  $b \in \mathbb{H}_t$ . Then

$$M_{\Theta}\mathbf{H}_{2,\circledast}^t \subset \mathfrak{M}^{\perp_{\circledast}},\tag{4.38}$$

where  $\perp_{\circledast}$  is the Krein orthogonal with respect to  $[\cdot, \cdot]_{\circledast}$ 

This follows from Step 1.

The above result is a finite dimensional Beurling–Lax type theorem in the present setting.

# 5. Hardy Space and Interpolation for the Second Conjugate [\*]

#### 5.1. The Hardy Space in One Variable: Case 2

We recall from Sect. 4.1 that the Hardy space  $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{D})$  is the reproducing kernel Hilbert space of functions analytic in the open unit disk and with reproducing  $\frac{1}{1-z\overline{w}}$ . We also recall that the counterpart of the Hardy space is now the following real Hilbert space  $\mathbf{H}_2^t$  the space of power series of the form

$$f(q_t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n \alpha_n$$

as in (4.2).

We now focus on  $\mathbf{H}_2^t$  with the real [\*] symmetric form (4.4), namely

$$[f,g]_{[*]} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} [g_n, f_n]_{[*]}$$

where  $g(q_t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n g_n$  is another element of  $\mathbf{H}_2^t$  and we recall that Theorem 4.2 for this case states:

**Theorem 5.1.** The space  $\mathbf{H}_2^t$  endowed with the form (4.4) is a Krein space. This space was denote by  $\mathbf{H}_{2,[*]}^t$  in Definition 4.3. **Proposition 5.2.** The space  $\mathbf{H}_{2,[*]}^t$  endowed with the real symmetric form (4.4) is a reproducing kernel Krein space right  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$ -module with reproducing kernel with reproducing kernel

$$k(q_t, p_t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n (p_t^n)^{[*]}.$$
(5.1)

Proof. We write

$$[*] = \left[\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n f_n, \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n (p_t^n)^{[*]} b\right]_{[*]}$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} [f_n, (p_t^n)^{[*]} b]_{[*]}$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \operatorname{Tr} (b^{[*]} p_t^n f_n)$$
$$= \operatorname{Tr} b^{[*]} f(p_t))$$
$$= [f(p_t), b]_{[*]}.$$

We see that  $\mathbf{H}_{2,[*]}^t$  is an  $\mathbb{H}_t$ -module. For t = -1 the second adjoint gives a new theory for quaternions.

#### 5.2. Star Product and Blaschke Factor

We remind the reader of the precursor to this theory, described in Sect. 4.3. Since  $\alpha \alpha^{[*]}$  is not (in general) a scalar matrix, one cannot define Blaschke factors using the formula  $(q_t - \alpha) \star (I_2 - q_t \alpha^{[*]})^{-\star}$ , but one could think of defining a Blaschke factor here by

$$C_{\alpha}(q_t) = (1 - \alpha \alpha^{[*]})^{-1/2} \star (q_t - \alpha) \star (1 - q_t \alpha^{[*]})^{-\star} (1 - \alpha^{[*]} \alpha)^{1/2}; \quad (5.2)$$

See (4.11). But this definition does not allow for a counterpart of Theorem 4.11. The appropriate definition is

$$B_{\alpha}(q_t) = (q_t - \alpha) \star (1 - q_t \Gamma_{\alpha} \alpha^{[*]} \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1})^{-*} L_{\alpha}^{1/2}$$

which is introduced (for regular adjoint) in [9] in a different context, and takes its inspiration from the formulas for a Blaschke factor in [14, Section 4]. For  $t \neq -1$   $\Gamma_{\alpha}$  is not self-adjoint, and need not be invertible not have a squareroot. But we have:

**Lemma 5.3.**  $\Gamma_{\alpha}$  is [\*] self-adjoint. When

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|\alpha\|_{op}^{2n} = \frac{\|\alpha\|_{op}^{2}}{1 - \|\alpha\|_{op}^{2}} < 1$$

 $\Gamma_{\alpha}$  is invertible and there exists an element of  $\mathbb{H}_t$ , denoted  $\Gamma_{\alpha}^{1/2}$ , which is [\*] self-adjoint and whose square is  $\Gamma_{\alpha}$ .

Proof. We write

$$\Gamma_{\alpha} = 1 + \underbrace{\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \alpha^n \alpha^{[*]n}}_{\varepsilon}$$

For  $\|\alpha\|_{op} < 1$  we have

$$\|\varepsilon\|_{op} < \frac{\|\alpha\|_{op}^2}{1 - \|\alpha\|_{op}^2}$$
(5.3)

we can define  $\Gamma_{\alpha}^{1/2}$  via

$$\Gamma_{\alpha}^{1/2} = 1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \gamma_n \alpha^n,$$

where the numbers  $\gamma_n$  are defined via

$$\sqrt{1+t} = 1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \gamma_n t^n, \quad t \in \mathbb{C} \text{ such that } |t| < 1.$$

$$(5.4)$$

Still following [9] and [14] we define

$$L_{\alpha} = \Gamma_{\alpha} - \Gamma_{\alpha} \alpha^{[*]} \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} \alpha \Gamma_{\alpha}$$

for  $\alpha$  such that  $\Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1}$  exists.

**Lemma 5.4.**  $L_{\alpha}$  satisfies  $L_{\alpha} = L_{\alpha}^{[*]}$  and the set of  $\alpha$  for which  $L_{\alpha}$  is invertible and for which there exists  $K_{\alpha}$  satisfying  $K_{\alpha} = K_{\alpha}^{[*]}$  and  $K_{\alpha}^2 = L_{\alpha}$  is open and not empty. Furthermore we have

$$L_{\alpha}^{-1} = \alpha^{[*]}\alpha + \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} \tag{5.5}$$

*Proof.* Let as above  $\Gamma_{\alpha} = 1 + \varepsilon$  with  $\alpha$  be such that  $\|\varepsilon\|_{op} < 1$ . Then, the series

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-1)^n \varepsilon^n$$

converges in  $\mathbb{H}_t$  and (since the operator norm is submultiplicative)

$$\begin{split} \|\Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1}\|_{op} &\leq \frac{1}{1 - \|\varepsilon\|_{op}} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{1 - \frac{\|\alpha\|_{op}^2}{1 - \|\alpha\|_{op}^2}} \\ &= \frac{1 - \|\alpha\|_{op}^2}{1 - 2\|\alpha\|_{op}^2} < 1 \end{split}$$

for  $\alpha$  small enough. From

$$L_{\alpha} = 1 + \underbrace{\Gamma_{\alpha} - 1 - \Gamma_{\alpha} \alpha^{[*]} \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} \alpha \Gamma_{\alpha}}_{\varepsilon_{1}}$$

and using (5.3), we have

$$\begin{split} \|\varepsilon_{1}\|_{op} &\leq \frac{\|\alpha\|_{op}^{2}}{1 - \|\alpha\|_{op}^{2}} + \|\Gamma_{\alpha}\|_{op}^{2}\|\Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1}\|_{op}\|\alpha\|_{op}^{2} \\ &\leq \frac{\|\alpha\|_{op}^{2}}{1 - \|\alpha\|_{op}^{2}} + \left(1 + \frac{\|\alpha\|_{op}^{2}}{1 - \|\alpha\|_{op}^{2}}\right)^{2} \frac{1}{1 - \frac{\|\alpha\|_{op}^{2}}{1 - \|\alpha\|_{op}^{2}}} \|\alpha\|_{op}^{2} \\ &\leq \frac{\|\alpha\|_{op}^{2}}{1 - \|\alpha\|_{op}^{2}} + \left(\frac{1}{1 - \|\alpha\|_{op}^{2}}\right)^{2} \frac{1 - \|\alpha\|_{op}^{2}}{1 - 2\|\alpha\|_{op}^{2}} \|\alpha\|_{op}^{2} \\ &< 1 \end{split}$$

for  $\alpha$  small enough. For such  $\alpha$ ,  $L_{\alpha}$  is also invertible and has a squareroot which is [\*] symmetric. The argument is the same as in the preceding lemma. We now check (5.5). We have

$$(\alpha^{[*]}\alpha + \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1})L_{\alpha} = \alpha^{[*]}\alpha(\Gamma_{\alpha} - \Gamma_{\alpha}\alpha^{[*]}\Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1}\alpha\Gamma_{\alpha}) + 1 - \alpha^{[*]}\Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1}\alpha\Gamma_{\alpha}$$
$$= 1 + \alpha^{[*]}\alpha\Gamma_{\alpha} + \alpha^{[*]}(1 - \Gamma_{\alpha})\Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1}\alpha\Gamma_{\alpha} - \alpha^{[*]}\Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1}\alpha\Gamma_{\alpha}$$
$$= 1.$$

To conclude the proof we note that  $M_{B_{\alpha}}$  is continuous for  $\alpha$  small enough, as is seen from the formula giving  $B_{\alpha}$ , and so the isometry property extends to all of  $H_{2,[*]}^t$  (recall that ina Krein space, a densely defined unitary map need not be continuous).

**Theorem 5.5.** The operator of  $\star$ -multiplication by  $B_{\alpha}$  on the left is isometric from the Krein space  $\mathbf{H}_{2,[\star]}^t$  into itself.

*Proof.* It is enough to check on monomials and the proofs of Steps 1, 2, and 3 are similar to the  $\circledast$  case. We refer to the proof of Theorem 4.10 for more details.

STEP 1: It holds that

$$B_{\alpha}(q_t) = -\alpha K_{\alpha} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} q_t^n \alpha^{[*](n-1)} \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} K_{\alpha}$$
(5.6)

We set  $q_t = x \in \mathbb{R}$  (small enough) in the definition of  $B_{\alpha}$  and write:

$$B_{\alpha}(x) = (x - \alpha) \left( K_{\alpha} + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} x^{n} \Gamma_{\alpha} \alpha^{[*]n} \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} K_{\alpha} \right)$$
  
$$= -\alpha K_{\alpha} + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} x^{n+1} \Gamma_{\alpha} \alpha^{[*]n} \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} K_{\alpha} - \sum_{\substack{n=0\\n=0}}^{\infty} x^{n+1} \alpha \Gamma_{\alpha} \alpha^{[*]n} \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} K_{\alpha}$$
  
$$= -\alpha K_{\alpha} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x^{n} \Gamma_{\alpha} \alpha^{[*](n-1)} \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} K_{\alpha} - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x^{n} (\alpha \Gamma_{\alpha} \alpha^{[*]}) \alpha^{[*](n-1)} \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} K_{\alpha}$$
  
$$= -\alpha K_{\alpha} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} x^{n} \alpha^{[*](n-1)} \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} K_{\alpha}$$

since  $\Gamma_{\alpha}$  satisfies the Stein equation

$$\Gamma_{\alpha} - \alpha \Gamma_{\alpha} \alpha^{[*]} = 1. \tag{5.7}$$

STEP 2: We have

$$[B_{\alpha} \star q_t^m c, B_{\alpha} \star q_t^m d]_{[*]} = [c, d]_{[*]}$$

We have

$$[B_{\alpha} \star q_t^m c, B_{\alpha} \star q_t^m d]_{[*]} = [\Delta c, d]_{[*]},$$

where

$$\Delta = K_{\alpha} \alpha^{[*]} \alpha K_{\alpha} + K_{\alpha} \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} \left( \underbrace{\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \alpha^{(n-1)} \alpha^{[*](n-1)}}_{\Gamma_{\alpha}} \right) \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} K_{\alpha}$$
$$= K_{\alpha} \alpha^{[*]} \alpha K_{\alpha} + K_{\alpha} \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} \Gamma_{\alpha} \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} K_{\alpha}$$
$$= K_{\alpha} \left( \alpha^{[*]} \alpha + \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} \right) K_{\alpha}$$
$$= K_{\alpha} L_{\alpha}^{-1} K_{\alpha} \quad (by (5.5))$$
$$= 1$$

where we have used Lemmma 5.4. Note that  $K_{\alpha}L_{\alpha}^{-1}K_{\alpha} = 1$  and  $K_{\alpha}^{2} = L_{\alpha}$  are indeed equivalent since both  $K_{\alpha}$  and  $L_{\alpha}$  are invertible. STEP 3: We have

$$[B_{\alpha} \star q_t^u c, B_{\alpha} \star q_t^v d]_{[*]} = 0, \quad u \neq v.$$

Without loss of generality we will assume u > v, In a way similar to the proof of Step 2 we have with h = u - v:

$$\begin{split} [B_{\alpha} \star q_{t}^{(u-v)}c, B_{\alpha} \star d]_{[*]} \\ &= \left[ -q_{t}^{h} \alpha K_{\alpha}c + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} q_{t}^{h+n} \alpha^{[*](n-1)} \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} K_{\alpha}c, \sum_{n=h}^{\infty} q_{t}^{n} \alpha^{[*](n-1)} \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} K_{\alpha}d \right]_{[*]} \\ &= \left[ -q_{t}^{h} \alpha K_{\alpha}c + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} q_{t}^{h+n} \alpha^{[*](n-1)} \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} K_{\alpha}c, \alpha^{[*](h-1)} \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} K_{\alpha}d \right. \\ &+ \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_{t}^{h+n} \alpha^{[*](h+n-1)} \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} K_{\alpha}d \right]_{[*]} \\ &= \left[ \Delta_{h}c, d \right]_{[*]}, \end{split}$$

where

$$\Delta_{h} = -K_{\alpha}\Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1}\alpha^{h}K_{\alpha} + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty}K_{\alpha}\Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1}\underbrace{\alpha^{h+n}\alpha^{[*]n}}_{\alpha^{h}\Gamma_{\alpha}}\Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1}K_{\alpha}$$
$$= -K_{\alpha}\Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1}\alpha^{h}K_{\alpha} + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty}K_{\alpha}\Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1}\alpha^{h}\Gamma_{\alpha}\Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1}K_{\alpha}$$
$$= 0.$$

**Theorem 5.6.**  $f \in \mathbf{H}_{2,[*]}^t$  vanishes at  $\alpha$  if and only if  $f = B_{\alpha} \star g$  where  $g \in \mathbf{H}_{2,[*]}^t$  satisfies  $[f, f]_{[*]} = [g, g]_{[*]}$ 

*Proof.* One direction is clear, thanks to (4.20) (see Step 1 in the proof of Theorem 4.11. To prove the converse we proceed in a number of steps, and first define the operator

$$M^a q^n_t b = q^n_t a b, \quad a, b \in \mathbb{H}_t.$$

$$(5.8)$$

STEP 1:  $M^a$  is bounded in  $\mathbf{H}_{2,[*]}^t$  and it holds that  $(M^a)^{[*]}q_t^n b = q_t^n a^{[*]} b$ 

 $M^a$  is defined everywhere and closed (as is seen using the reproducing kernel property), and so is bounded in the Krein space  $\mathbf{H}_{2,[*]}^t$ . To compute the adjoint we write

$$[*] = [q_t^n b, M^a(q_t^m c)]_{[*]}$$
  
=  $[q_t^n b, q_t^m ac)]_{[*]}$   
=  $\delta_{m,n} \operatorname{Tr}((ac)^{[*]}b)$   
=  $\delta_{m,n} \operatorname{Tr}(c^{[*]}a^{[*]}b)$   
=  $\delta_{m,n} [q_t^n a^{[*]}b, q_t^m b]_{[*]}.$ 

STEP 2: The operator  $M_{q_t} - M^a$  has closed range and

$$H_{2,[*]}^{t} = \operatorname{ran}\left(M_{q_{t}} - M^{a}\right)^{[+]} \operatorname{span}\left\{\left(1 - q_{t}a^{[*]}\right)^{-\star}b, b \in \mathbb{H}_{1}\right\}$$

The closed range follows from the reproducing kernel property and the previous step. Let now f orthogonal in the [\*] inner product to the range. Then

$$(M_{q_t}^{[*]} - (M^a)^{[*]})f = 0$$

With  $f(q_t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q_t^n f_n$  and since, as is readily verified

$$M_{q_t}^{[*]} q_t^n b \begin{cases} 0, & n = 0, \\ q_t^{n-1} b, & n = 1, 2, \dots \end{cases}$$

we get

$$f_n = a^{[*]} f_{n+1}, \quad n = 0, 1, \dots$$

so that

$$f(q_t) = (1 - q_t a^{\lfloor * \rfloor})^{-\star} f_0$$

STEP 3: We conclude the proof.

Let  $f \in \mathbf{H}_{[2,[*]}^t$  be such that f(a) = 0. By the previous step,  $f \in \operatorname{ran}(M_{q_t} - M^a)$  so that

$$f(q_t) = (q_t - a) \star g(q_t) = B_{\alpha}(q_t) \star (1 - q_t \Gamma_{\alpha} \alpha^{[*]} \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1})^* L_{\alpha}^{-1/2}$$

which concludes the proof.

The same conclusions as in Remark 4.12 hold. One can define the couterpart of the matrix  $\mathbf{G}_{\circledast}$  and Problem 4.13, namely

$$\mathbf{G}_{[*]} = \begin{pmatrix} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_1^n \alpha_1^{[*]n} & \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_1^n \alpha_2^{[*]n} & \cdots & \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_1^n \alpha_N^{[*]n} \\ \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_2^n \alpha_1^{[*]n} & \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_2^n \alpha_2^{[*]n} & \cdots & \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_2^n \alpha_N^{[*]n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_N^n \alpha_1^{[*]n} & \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_N^n \alpha_2^{[*]n} & \cdots & \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \alpha_N^n \alpha_N^{[*]n} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.9)

where  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \ldots, \alpha_N \in \mathbb{H}_t$  are the interpolation points, assumed to be in the operator unit ball of  $\mathbf{H}_t$ , i.e. such that

$$\|\alpha_j\|_{op} < 1, \quad j = 1, \dots, N.$$
 (5.10)

### 6. Arveson Space, Blaschke Factors and Related Topics

#### 6.1. Reproducing Kernel Krein Spaces of V<sub>t</sub>-Fueter Series

We are interested in studying power series of the form

$$f(x) = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^3} \mu_t^{\alpha} f_{\alpha} \tag{6.1}$$

where the  $f_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{H}_t$ . Since the  $\mu_t$  are not defined at  $x = 0 \in \mathbb{R}^4$  one first needs to make precise where such power series will be considered. For estimates we will need a submultiplicative norm, and take the operator norm (2.2). We define

$$O_{r,\rho} = \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^4 ; \, r < |x_1^2 + t(x_2^2 + x_3^2)| \quad \text{and} \quad |x_u| < \rho, \, u = 0, 1, 2, 3 \right\}$$
(6.2)

**Lemma 6.1.** In  $O_{r,R,\rho}$  we have

$$\|\mu_t^{\alpha}(x)\|_{op} \le M_{r,R,\rho}^{|\alpha|} \tag{6.3}$$

with

$$M_{r,R,\rho} = \rho \left( 1 + \frac{3\rho^2}{r} \right) \tag{6.4}$$

*Proof.* In a similar way to our work [15], we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\mu_t^{\alpha}(x)||_{op} &= |x_1|^{\alpha_1} |x_2|^{\alpha_2} |x_3|^{\alpha_3} \left\| \left( 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right)^{|\alpha|} \right\|_{op} \\ &\leq \rho^{\alpha} \left\| 1 + \frac{x_0}{\vec{q}_t} \right\|_{op}^{|\alpha|} \\ &= \rho^{\alpha} \left\| 1 - \frac{x_0 \vec{q}_t}{x_1^2 + t(x_2^2 + x_3^2)} \right\|_{op}^{|\alpha|} \\ &\leq \rho^{\alpha} \left( 1 + \left\| \frac{x_0 \vec{q}_t}{x_1^2 + t(x_2^2 + x_3^2)} \right\|_{op} \right)^{|\alpha|} \\ &\leq \rho^{|\alpha|} \left( 1 + \frac{3\rho^2}{r} \right)^{|\alpha|} \end{aligned}$$

One could also consider

 $O_{r,\rho,R} = \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^4 ; r < |x_1^2 + t(x_2^2 + x_3^2)| < R \text{ and } |x_u| < \rho, \ u = 0, 1, 2, 3 \right\}$ (6.5)

The following is the counterpart of [15, Proposition 5.1].

**Proposition 6.2.** Let  $(c_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_{0}^{3}}$  be a family of positive fnumbers such that

$$\sum_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^3 \\ c_\alpha > 0}} \frac{M_{r_1, R_1, \rho_1}^{|\alpha|}}{c_\alpha} < \infty$$

for all  $r_1, \rho_1$  such that

 $0 < r < r_1$  and  $0 < \rho_1 < \rho$ .

Then the function

$$k_{\mathbf{c}}(x,y) = \sum_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^3 \\ c_\alpha \neq 0}} \frac{\mu_t^{\alpha}(x)(\mu_t^{\alpha}(y))^{\circledast}}{c_\alpha}$$
(6.6)

converges in  $O_{r,\rho}$ , and is the reproducing kernel of the reproducing kernel Krein space of power series of the form (6.1) endowed with the symmetric form  $[\cdot, \cdot]_{\circledast}$ , namely

$$\mathfrak{H}(k_{\mathbf{c}}) = \left\{ f = \sum_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^3 \\ c_\alpha \neq 0}} \mu_t^{\alpha} f_{\alpha}, \ f_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{H}_2^t \mid \sum_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^3 \\ c_\alpha \neq 0}} c_{\alpha} \|f_{\alpha}\|_{op}^2 < \infty \right\}$$
(6.7)

*Proof.* We leave the proof to the reader, as it is a straightforward generalization of our work [15].

`

**Proposition 6.3.** Elements of  $\mathfrak{H}(k_c)$  are  $V_t$ -regular in

$$O(k_{\mathbf{c}}) = \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^4 \setminus \{(0,0,0,0)\} \mid \sum_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^3 \\ c_\alpha \neq 0}} \frac{\|\mu_t^{\alpha}\|_{op}^2}{c_\alpha} < \infty \right\}$$
(6.8)

*Proof.* See our work [15] for the t = -1 case, this follows from Theorem 3.4. 

Similar considerations hold for power series of the form

$$\sum_{\substack{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}_0^3 \\ c_\alpha \neq 0}} \frac{\mu_t^{\alpha}(x)(\mu_t^{\alpha}(y))^{[*]}}{c_\alpha}$$
(6.9)

The case  $c_{\alpha} = \alpha!$  will correspond to the counterpart of the Arveson space.

### 6.2. Blaschke Factor ( $\mu_t$ Variables)

We now denote the vector  $\mu_t$  of  $V_t$ -Fueter variables by:

$$\mu_t = \left(\mu_{1,t} \ \mu_{2,t} \ \mu_{3,t}\right), \tag{6.10}$$

where  $\mu_{l,t}$  are defined in Eq. (3.4). We first remark that for  $a \in \mathbb{R}^4$  such that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{3} \|\mu_{j,t}(a)\| < 1 \tag{6.11}$$

one can define the squareroots

$$\sqrt{1 - \mu_t(a)\mu_t(a)^{\circledast}}$$
 and  $(I_{\mathbb{H}^3_t} - \mu_t(a)^{\circledast}\mu_t(a))^{-1/2}$ 

where

$$\mu_t(a)^{\circledast} = \left(\mu_{1,t}^{\circledast} \ \mu_{2,t}^{\circledast} \ \mu_{3,t}^{\circledast}\right)^T,$$

via the power series (5.4). Since

$$\mu_t(a)(\mu_t(a)^{\circledast}\mu_t(a))^n = (\mu_t(a)\mu_t(a)^{\circledast})^n\mu_t(a), \quad n = 1, 2, \dots$$

we furthermore have

$$(1 - \mu_t(a)\mu_t(a)^{\circledast})^{1/2}\mu_t(a)(1_{\mathbb{H}^3_t} - \mu(a)^{\circledast}\mu_t(a))^{-1/2} = \mu_t(a).$$
(6.12)

**Definition 6.4.** Assume that  $a \in \mathbb{R}^4$  satisfies (6.13). We define

$$b_a(q_t) = \sqrt{1 - \mu_t(a)\mu_t(a)^{\circledast}} \star (1 - \mu_t(q_t)\mu_t(a)^{\circledast})^{-\star} \star (\mu_t(q_t) - \mu_t(a)) \cdot (I_{\mathbb{H}^3_t} - \mu_t(a)^{\circledast}\mu_t(a))^{-1/2}$$

Similarly, for  $a \in \mathbb{R}^4$  such that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{3} \|\mu_{j,t}(a)\| < 1 \tag{6.13}$$

one can define the square roots

$$\sqrt{1 - \mu_t(a)\mu_t(a)^{[*]}}$$
 and  $(I_{\mathbb{H}^3_t} - \mu_t(a)^{[*]}\mu_t(a))^{-1/2}$ ,

where

$$\mu_t(a)^{[*]} = \left(\mu_{1,t}^{[*]} \ \mu_{2,t}^{[*]} \ \mu_{3,t}^{[*]}\right)^T,$$

via the power series (5.4). Since

$$\mu_t(a)(\mu_t(a)^{[*]}\mu_t(a))^n = (\mu_t(a)\mu_t(a)^{[*]})^n\mu_t(a), \quad n = 1, 2, \dots$$

we furthermore have

$$(1 - \mu_t(a)\mu_t(a)^{[*]})^{1/2}\mu_t(a)(1_{\mathbb{H}^3_t} - \mu(a)^{[*]}\mu_t(a))^{-1/2} = \mu_t(a).$$
(6.14)

**Definition 6.5.** Assume that  $a \in \mathbb{R}^4$  satisfies (6.13). We define

$$\beta_a(q_t) = \sqrt{1 - \mu_t(a)\mu_t(a)^{[*]} \star (1 - \mu_t(q_t)\mu_t(a)^{[*]})^{-\star} \star (\mu_t(q_t) - \mu_t(a))} \cdot (I_{\mathbb{H}^3_t} - \mu_t(a)^{[*]}\mu_t(a))^{-1/2}}$$

Remark 6.6. It is worth noting that this analysis can be written equivalently, for the corresponding Fueter  $\zeta_t$  variables, and we have the same type of results as in the previous section, but with

$$\zeta_t(q_t) = \left(\zeta_{1,t} \ \zeta_{2,t} \ \zeta_{3,t}\right)$$

instead of  $\mu_{l,t}$ .

# 7. Rational Functions

In this section we discuss rational functions in the case of the  $q_t$ ,  $\mu_{u,t}$  and  $\zeta_{u,t}$  variables. We begin with a prologue, where the main features of the classical case are reviewed.

# 7.1. Prologue

The easiest way to define a matrix-valued rational function in one or several complex variables is certainly to characterize it by having entries being quotient of polynomials (in the corresponding number of variables). Another approach was developped in the theory of linear systems, Schur analysis and operator theory, and is called the state space method; see e.g. [22]. There the emphasis is on the notion of transfer function. These various concepts make sense and a corresponding theory of linear system can be developped, when the complex numbers are replaced by a (possibly non-commutative) ring; see for instance [24,47,48]. This provides one motivation for the present section, where we consider the counterpart of rational functions in the setting of the  $\mathbb{H}_t$  algebras, both for power series and Fueter-like series. We conclude and remark that rational functions with respect to the  $\star$  product will be defined independently of the adjoint, but some of their properties will be fundamentally different depending on the chosen adjoint.

We begin with the following definition, taken from [13, Definition 2.1, p. 60], but of course of a much earlier origin, restricted to  $\mathbb{H}_t$ .

**Definition 7.1.** A rational  $(\mathbb{H}_t^{n \times m}$ -valued function of d real variables  $x_1, \ldots, x_d$ , regular at the origin of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  is an element of the minimal subring of the  $(\mathbb{H}_t^{n \times m}$ -valued function real analytic in a neighborhood of the origin which contains the constant functions the real variables and is closed under inversion.

**Theorem 7.2.** (see [13, Theorem 2.2 p 61])  $A \mathbb{H}_t^{n \times m}$ -valued function real analytic in a neighbourhood of the origin of  $\mathbb{R}^N$  is rational if and only if it can be written as

$$f(x_1, \dots, x_d) = D + C(I_{\mathbb{H}_t^N} - x_1 A_1 - x_2 A_2 - \dots - x_d A_d)^{-1} (x_1 B_1 + x_2 B_2 + \dots + x_d B_d),$$
(7.1)

where  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $D \in \mathbb{H}_t^{n \times m}$ ,  $C \in \mathbb{H}_t^{n \times N}$ , and  $A_j \in \mathbb{H}_t^{N \times N}$ ,  $B_j \in \mathbb{H}_t^{N \times m}$ ,  $j = 1, \ldots, d$ .

When N = 1 one rewrites usually (7.1) as

$$f(x) = D + xC(I_{\mathbb{H}_t^N} - xA)^{-1}B.$$
(7.2)

Expressions (7.1) and (7.2) are called realizations of the corresponding function f. When d > 1, they correspond to transfer functions of a linear system of the Fornasini-Marchesini type; see [33,34] for the latter.

In terms of power series expansion (7.1) can be rewritten as, in multiindex notation,

$$f(x) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}_0^d} x^k f_k \tag{7.3}$$

where

$$f_k = \frac{(|k|-1)!}{k!} C\left(k_1 A^{k_1-e_1} \ k_2 A^{k-e_2} \ \cdots \ k_q A^{k-e_d}\right) B,\tag{7.4}$$

where  $e_k$ , k = 1, ..., d, is the multi-index with all entries equal to 0, besides the k-th one, equal to 1. For d = 1 we have

$$f_k = CA^{k-1}B, \quad k = 1, 2, \dots$$
 (7.5)

In this section, we take N = 1 and N = 3, and wish to replace in (7.1)  $x_1 = x$  by  $q_t$  (for N = 1) and by the Fueter variables  $\mu$  and  $\zeta$  for N = 3, and use the  $\star$  product rather than the pointwise product. We give equivalent definitions in terms of backward-shift operators and related tools.

#### 7.2. Rational Function: Power Series in $q_t$

**Theorem 7.3.** Let  $f(q_t) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} q_t^k f_k$  be a converging power series with coefficients  $f_n \in \mathbb{H}_t^{n \times m}$ . Then, the following are equivalent:

(1) There exist  $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and matrices  $(A, B, C) \in \mathbb{H}_t^{N \times N} \times \mathbb{H}_t^{N \times m} \times \mathbb{H}_t^{n \times N}$ such that, with D = f(0),

$$f(q_t) = D + q_t \star C \star (I_N - q_t \star A)^{-\star} \star B$$
(7.6)

(2) With A, B, C as above

$$f_k = CA^{k-1}B, \quad k = 1, 2, \dots$$
 (7.7)

(3) The real linear span  $\mathfrak{M}(f)$  of the functions  $R_0^k fb$ , when  $n = 0, 1, \ldots$  and b runs through  $\mathbb{H}_t^{N \times 1}$  is a finite dimensional real vector space.

(4) f is the  $\star$  quotient of two matrix-valued polynomials

$$f = P_1 \star P_2^{-\star} = P_3^{-\star} \star P_4$$

such that the denominator polynomials  $P_2$  and  $P_3$  do not vanish at the origin.

(5) The restriction of f to the real line is a rational function with no pole at the origin and with coefficients being block matrices with entries in H<sub>t</sub>.

*Proof.* We proceed into a number of steps.

STEP 1: (1), (2) and (5) are equivalent.

Assume that (1) holds. Letting  $q_t = x \in \mathbb{R}$  we get the power series expansion of f(x) and obtain (7.7). Assume (2), then for real x near the origin, and with f(0) = D,

$$f(x) = f(0) + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} f_k x^k = D + xC(I_N - xA)^{-1}B$$
(7.8)

and this proves (5). Assume now (5). By the classical theory it admits a realization of the form (7.8), which determines  $f(q_t)$  in a unique way via the power expansion in power of x.

STEP 2: (1) and (3) are equivalent. Assume that (1) holds. Then

$$R_0^k fb = C \star (I_{\mathbb{H}_t^N} - q_t \star A)^{-\star} A^{k-1} B, \quad k = 1, 2, \dots$$

and so the span in question has dimension at most the span (as a real vector space) of the vectors of the form

$$A^{k-1}Bb \tag{7.9}$$

which is finite, and so (3) holds. Assume now (3). Then we take  $v_1, \ldots, v_N$  a basis of  $\mathfrak{M}(f)$ , and let

 $M(q_t) = \left(v_1(q_t) \ v_2(q_t) \ \cdots \ v_N(q_t)\right)$ 

Since  $\mathfrak{M}(f)$  is  $R_0$ -invariant, there is a matrix  $A \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times N}$  such that

$$R_0 M = M A$$

from which we get

$$M(q_t) = q_t \star M(q_t)A + M(0)$$

and so<sup>1</sup>  $M(q_t) = M(0) \star (I_{\mathbb{H}_t^N} - q_t A)^{-\star}$ . To conclude we note that for every  $u \in \mathbb{H}_t^N$  there exists a  $v \in \mathbb{H}_t^N$  such that

$$R_0 f u = M(q_t) v$$

and so

$$R_0 f = M(q_t) B$$

for some matrix in  $\in \mathbb{H}_{t}^{N \times m}$ , and hence (1) holds.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Since this specific A has real entries we could write  $M(0)(I_{\mathbb{H}^N_*} - q_t A)^{-1}$ 

STEP 3: (3) and (5) are equivalent.

Assume (3). Then the restriction of f to the real axis is a rational function of a real variable, with coefficients matrices with entries in  $\mathbb{H}_t$ . It admits thus a realization of the form (7.8), and so is the restriction of a uniquely determined function of the form (7.6). The converse is proved by remarking that  $(I_{\mathbb{H}_t^N} - xA)^{-1}$  is the quotient of two polynomials.

**Definition 7.4.** The power series  $f(q_t) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} q_t^k f_k$  is called rational if it satisfies either of the conditions in the previous theorem.

Using the classical properties of realizations one proves:

**Theorem 7.5.** The sum and product of two rational functions of compatible sizes are rational. Assuming its value at the origin invertible the inverse of a rational function is invertible.

*Proof.* For the inverse, we need to have n = m and D invertible. Then (see e.g. [21]), with f(x) as in (7.2), we have det  $f(x) \neq 0$  and

 $f(x)^{-1} = D^{-1} - xD^{-1}C(I_{\mathbb{H}_{t}^{N}} - xA^{\times})^{-1}BD^{-1}, \text{ where } A^{\times} = A - BD^{-1}C.$ It follows that the function

$$D^{-1} - q_t D C^{-1} \star (I_{\mathbb{H}^N} - q_t A^{\times})^{-\star} B D^{-1}$$

is the  $\star$ -inverse of  $f(q_t)$ . Similarly, still relying on the formulas from [21], we have (with matrices of compatible sizes)

$$(D_1 + q_t C_1 \star (I_{\mathbb{H}_t^{N_1}} - q_t A_1)^{-\star} B_1) \star (D_2 + q_t C_2 \star (I_{\mathbb{H}_t^{N_2}} - q_t A_2)^{-\star} B_2)$$
  
=  $D + q_t C \star (I_{\mathbb{H}_t^N} - q_t A)^{-\star} B$   
h  $N - N_t + N_2$  and

with  $N = N_1 + N_2$  and

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} A_1 & B_1 C_2 \\ 0 & A_2 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$B = \begin{pmatrix} B_1 D_2 \\ B_2 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$C = (C_1 & D_1 C_2)$$
$$D = D_1 D_2.$$

**Theorem 7.6.** A function is rational if and only if it can be obtained after a finite number of  $\star$  operations involving polynomials

*Proof.* The result is true when restricted to the real line and follows by replacing x by  $q_t$  and the pointwise product by the  $\star$  product.

As we noted above, the notion of rational function is the same for the two adjoints  $\circledast$  and [\*], but some of their properties are completely different, in view of the different properties of the two adjoints. In the present discussion, in the case of  $\circledast$  one can go one step further:

**Theorem 7.7.** The power series  $f(q_t) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} q_t^k f_k$  is rational if and only if it is the quotient of a matrix-polynomial and of a real scalar polynomial

*Proof.* Assume first that f is  $\mathbb{H}_t^{a \times b}$ -valued and rational. So each entry  $f_{ij}$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots a$  and  $j = 1, \ldots b$  is rational. Using Corollary 2.35 write

$$f_{ij}(q_t) = q_{ij}(q_t) \star (p_{ij}(q_t))^{-\star} \\ = \frac{(q_{ij} \star p_{ij}^{\circledast}(q_t))(q_t)}{(p_{ij} \star p_{ij}^{\circledast})(q_t)},$$

The result follows by taking as denominator  $P(q_t) = \prod_{i,j} (p_{ij} \star p_{ij}^{\circledast})(q_t)$  Each entry  $f_{ij}$  can be rewritten as

$$f_{ij}(q_t) \star \prod_{\substack{k=1,\dots,a\\\ell=1,\dots,b\\k\neq i\\\ell\neq j}} (p_{k\ell} \star p_{k\ell}^{\circledast})(q_t)$$
real polynomial
$$f_{ij}(q_t) = \frac{real \text{ polynomial}}{P(q_t)}$$

This characterisation is not possible for [\*] since  $q_t q_t^{[*]}$  is not, in general, a scalar matrix.

Example 7.8. The function  $\Theta_N$  defined by (4.24) is rational with a realization (4.27) given by (4.28)–(4.31). Furthermore, this realization is  $\circledast$ -unitary with respect to  $\mathbf{G}_{\circledast}$  in the sense that

$$\begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix}^{\circledast} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{G}_{\circledast} & 0 \\ 0 & I_{\mathbb{H}_t^N} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{G}_{\circledast} & 0 \\ 0 & I_{\mathbb{H}_t^N} \end{pmatrix}$$
(7.10)

This follows Step 2 in the proof of Theorem 4.13, since one has to verify equalities (4.33)-(4.34).

We note that (7.11) is equivalent to

$$\begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix}^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{G}_{\circledast}^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & I_{\mathbb{H}_{t}^{N}} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix}^{\circledast} \end{pmatrix}^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{G}_{\circledast}^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & I_{\mathbb{H}_{t}^{N}} \end{pmatrix}$$

and so is equivalent to

$$\begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{G}_{\circledast}^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & I_{\mathbb{H}_t^N} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix}^{\circledast} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{G}_{\circledast}^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & I_{\mathbb{H}_t^N} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (7.11)$$

In particular the matrix  $\mathbf{G}_{\circledast}^{-1}$  satisfies the Stein equation

$$\mathbf{G}_{\circledast}^{-1} - A\mathbf{G}_{\circledast}^{-1}A^{\circledast} = BB^{\circledast}.$$
(7.12)

The following result hints to the fact that the theory of structured rational functions can be extended to the present setting; as was shown by a counterexample in [11, (62.38), p. 1767] one cannot directly force conditions on the boundary, but one has to consider conditions in terms of multiplication operators, or symmetric on the real line replacing the metric boundary conditions by operator-type conditions. **Proposition 7.9.** In the notation of (7.11) define  $\Theta$  by (4.27),

$$\Theta(q_t) = D + q_t C \star (I_{\mathbb{H}^N_t} - q_t A)^{-\star} B.$$

Then the operator of  $\star$  multiplication by  $\Theta$  on the right is an isometry from the Hardy space  $\mathbf{H}_{2,\circledast}$  into itself.

*Proof.* The proof is the same as the proof of Step 5 in the proof of Theorem 4.13, where only equality (7.11) is used, and not the specific form of A, B, C, D.

Similar considerations hold for the second adjoint. Similar claims hold for the Blaschke factor associated to [\*], as we now check, and for the Blaschke factors associated to the Fueter variables; see next subsection for the latter.

Proposition 7.10. The formula

$$A = a^{[*]} (7.13)$$

$$B = \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} K_{\alpha} \tag{7.14}$$

$$C = 1 \tag{7.15}$$

$$D = -\alpha K_{\alpha} \tag{7.16}$$

provide a realization of  $B_{\alpha}$ , which satisfies moreover

$$\begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix}^{[*]} \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_{\alpha} & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_{\alpha} & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(7.17)

$$\begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix}^{[*]} = \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(7.18)

*Proof.* From (5.6) we have

$$B_{\alpha}(q_t) = -\alpha K_{\alpha} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} q_t^n \alpha^{[*](n-1)} \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} K_{\alpha}$$
$$= -\alpha K_{\alpha} + q_t \star (1 - q_t \alpha^{[*]})^{-\star} \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} K_{\alpha},$$

and hence we get the realization (7.13)–(7.16). To check (7.17) amounts to check the following three equalities

$$\alpha \Gamma_{\alpha} \alpha^{[*]} + 1 = \Gamma_{\alpha}, \qquad (7.19)$$

$$\alpha K_{\alpha} - \alpha K_{\alpha} = 0, \tag{7.20}$$

$$K_{\alpha}\Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1}K_{\alpha} + K_{\alpha}a^{[*]}aK_{\alpha} = 1.$$
(7.21)

The first one is the Stein equation (5.7) and the second one is a tautology. The third one can be rewritten as

$$\Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} + a^{[*]}a = K_{\alpha}^{-2} = L_{\alpha}^{-1}$$

and is just (5.5). To get (7.18) we rewrite (7.17) as

$$\begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix}^{[*]} \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_{\alpha} & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} = I_{\mathbb{H}^4_t},$$

so that

$$\begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_{\alpha}^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix}^{[*]} \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma_{\alpha} & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} = I_{\mathbb{H}^4_t},$$

and the result follows.

For the above computations in the setting of complex matrices see the arXiv preprint [9, Theorem 3.12].

### 7.3. Rational Functions for Fueter Variables

We will consider this topic in greater details in a future publication but mention the following: For the  $\mu_t$  variables, the \*-product is defined by

$$\mu_t^{\alpha} u \star \mu_t^{\beta} v = \mu_t^{\alpha+\beta} u v, \quad \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^3, \ u, v \in \mathbb{H}_t.$$
(7.22)

The corresponding rational functions regular at the origin are the expressions of the form

$$f(x) = D + C \star (I_{\mathbb{H}_t^N} - \sum_{k=1}^3 \mu_{k,t} A_k)^{-\star} \star \left(\sum_{k=1}^3 \mu_{k,t} B_k\right).$$
(7.23)

With

$$\mu_t = (\mu_{1,t} \ \mu_{2,t} \ \mu_{3,t})$$

and

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} A_1 \\ A_2 \\ A_3 \end{pmatrix}, \quad B = \begin{pmatrix} B_1 \\ B_2 \\ B_3 \end{pmatrix},$$

we rewrite (7.1) as

$$f(x) = D + C \star (I_{\mathbb{H}_t^N} - (\mu_t \otimes I_N)A)^{-1})^{-\star} (\mu_t \otimes I_N)B$$
(7.24)

which we write as

$$f(x) = D + C \star (I_{\mathbb{H}_t^N} - \mu_t A)^{-1})^{-\star} \mu_t B$$
(7.25)

Note that this function is not defined at the origin of  $\mathbb{R}^4$ .

For the  $\zeta_t$  variables, the  $\star\text{-}\mathrm{product}$  is defined by

$$\zeta_t^{\alpha} u \star \zeta_t^{\beta} v = \zeta_t^{\alpha+\beta} u v, \quad \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}_0^3, \quad u, v \in \mathbb{H}_t.$$
(7.26)

$$f(x) = D + C \star \left( I_{\mathbb{H}_{t}^{N}} - \sum_{k=1}^{3} \zeta_{k,t} A_{k} \right)^{-\star} \star \left( \sum_{k=1}^{3} \zeta_{k,t} B_{k} \right).$$
(7.27)

The formulas are the same as for the previous subsection, and were developped in [19] for the case t = -1.

In both cases the corresponding Blaschke factors (6.4) and (6.5) are rational. More precisely, and using (6.14), we can rewrite  $b_a(q_t)$  as (see also [16, (4.4), p. 12])

$$b_{a}(x) = -\mu_{t}(a) + + (1 - \mu_{t}(a)\mu_{t}(a)^{\circledast})^{1/2} \star (1 - \mu_{t}(x)\mu_{t}(a)^{\circledast})^{-\star}$$
(7.28)  
$$\star \mu_{t}(a)(I_{\mathbb{H}^{3}_{t}} - \mu(a)^{\circledast}_{t}\mu_{t}(a))^{1/2}.$$

The realization is equal to

$$A = \mu_t(a)^{\circledast}$$
  

$$B = (I_{\mathbb{H}^3_t} - \mu_t(a)^{\circledast} \mu_t(a))^{1/2}$$
  

$$C = (1 - \mu_t(a) \mu_t(a)^{\circledast})^{1/2}$$
  

$$D = -\mu_t(a),$$
  
(7.29)

where, as earlier, the squareroots are defined by the power expansion of  $\sqrt{1-t}$  for  $a \in \mathbb{R}^4$  such that  $\|\mu_t(a)\mu_t(a)^{\circledast}\|_{op} < 1$ . We repeat the argument: with  $\sqrt{1-t} = 1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n t^n$ , where  $c_1, c_2, \ldots \in \mathbb{R}$  (see also (5.4)), the series

$$1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n (\mu_t(a)\mu_t(a)^{\circledast})^n \quad \text{and} \quad I_{\mathbb{H}^3_t} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n \mu_t(a)^{\circledast} (\mu_t(a)\mu_t(a)^{\circledast})^{n-1} \mu_t(a)$$

converge since the operator norm is sub-multiplicative.

The realization is *\**-unitary in the sense that

$$\begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix}^{\circledast} = \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix}^{\circledast} \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} = I_{\mathbb{H}_t^{4 \times 4}}.$$

Equality (6.14) is used to prove this equality.

*Remark 7.11.* Besides the case just encountered, there are three other cases for the Fueter variables, namely the classical Fueter variables, for the two adjoints, and the new Fueter variables, for the [\*] adjoint.

**Funding** Open access funding provided by SCELC, Statewide California Electronic Library Consortium

**Data availability** No datasets were created or required in the completion of this work.

### Declarations

**Conflict of interest** The authors declare that they have no competing or conflicting interests and that they have worked equally in the creation of this paper.

**Open Access.** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

**Publisher's Note** Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

# Appendix A. Pontryagin and Krein Spaces

Having in view the needs for the present work we briefly review the main relevant definitions and results on Pontryagin spaces and Krein spaces. For further information we refer in particular to [20, 23, 30, 39]. Let therefore  $(\mathcal{V}, [\cdot, \cdot])$ be a vector space on  $\mathbb{K}$  where  $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$  or  $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{C}$ , endowed with a symmetric form (when  $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$ ) or an Hermitian form (when  $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{R}$ ). The discussion below is done for the complex setting and we choose the convention

$$[av, bw]_{\mathcal{V}} = b[v, w]_{\mathcal{V}}a, \quad v, w \in \mathcal{V}, \quad \text{and} \quad a, b \in \mathbb{C}, \tag{A.1}$$

for the anti-linear variable. The real case is directly adapted. One can also consider the case of quaternions, but we prefer to include it in the following section, pertaining to modules.

**Definition A.1.** The space  $(\mathcal{V}, [\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathcal{V}})$  is called a Krein space if it can be written in the direct and orthogonal sum

$$\mathcal{V} = \mathcal{V}_+ + \mathcal{V}_- \tag{A.2}$$

where

- (1) The spaces  $(\mathcal{V}_+, [\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathcal{V}})$  and  $(\mathcal{V}_-, -[\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathcal{V}})$  are Hilbert spaces.
- (2) The sum (A.2) is direct, meaning that  $\mathcal{V}_+ \cap \mathcal{V}_- = \{0\}$ .
- (3) The sum (A.2) is orthogonal, meaning that

$$[v_+, v_-]_{\mathcal{V}} = 0, \quad \forall v_+ \in \mathcal{V}_+ \quad and \quad v_- \in \mathcal{V}_-.$$
(A.3)

(A.2) is called a *fundamental decomposition* and is not unique, but in the case where one of the component reduces to the zero vector space. Every fundamental decomposition generates a Hilbert space structure on  $\mathcal{V}$  via

$$\langle v, w \rangle = [v_+, w_+]_{\mathcal{V}} - [v_-, w_-]_{\mathcal{V}},$$
 (A.4)

where  $v = v_+ + v_-$  and  $w = w_+ + w_-$  are the corresponding fundamental decompositions of  $v, w \in \mathcal{V}$ .

**Proposition A.2.** (see [23, p. 102 and Corollary IV.6.3, p. 92]) The space  $(\mathcal{V}, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle)$  is a Hilbert space, and norms arising from orthogonal decompositions are equivalent, and define therefore the same topology on  $\mathcal{V}$ .

In particular, Riesz theorem for the representation of bounded functions still holds in Krein spaces and the notion of bounded point evaluation in a Krein space of functions leads to the notion of reproducing kernel Krein space.

When  $\mathcal{V}_{-}$  is finite dimensional the space  $\mathcal{V}$  is called a Pontryagin space, and dim  $\mathcal{V}_{-}$  is its index of negativity.

Example A.3. Let  $J \in \mathbb{C}^{n \times n}$  satisfy  $J = J^* = J^{-1}$  (a signature matrix), and define on  $\mathbb{C}^n$ 

$$[z,w] = w^* J z, \quad z,w \in \mathbb{C}^n.$$
(A.5)

Then,  $(\mathbb{C}^n, [\cdot, \cdot]_J)$  is a finite dimensional Pontryagin space with negativity index equal to the number of negative eigenvalues of J. The adjoint  $A^{[*]}$  of the matrix  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{n \times n}$  with respect to this adjoint is

$$A^{[*]} = JA^*J. \tag{A.6}$$

One should be aware that there may be more than one given Krein (as opposed to Hilbert or Pontryagin) space of functions with a given reproducing kernel; this was proved in Laurent Schwartz paper [45, §13] and another counterexample can be found in  $[1, \S 4]$ .

In our work Pontryagin, and Hilbert spaces appear in a natural way as described in Sect. 2 and Krein spaces appear in Sect. 4 and beyond, see, for example, Theorem 4.4.

# Appendix B. Pontryagin and Krein Right $\mathcal{H}_2^t$ -Modules

We assume now that  $\mathcal{V}$  is a right  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$ -module, and now replace (A.1) by

$$[vq, wp]_{\mathcal{V}} = p^{\circledast}[v, w]_{\mathcal{V}}q, \quad v, w \in \mathcal{H}, \text{ and } p, q \in \mathcal{H}_2^t,$$
 (B.1)

or

$$[vq, wp]_{\mathcal{V}} = p^{[*]}[v, w]_{\mathcal{V}}q, \quad v, w \in \mathcal{H}, \quad \text{and} \quad p, q \in \mathcal{H}_2^t, \tag{B.2}$$

depending on the chosen adjoint.

**Definition B.1.** Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a vector space which is also a right  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$ -module, and let  $[\cdot, \cdot]_{\mathcal{K}}$  be a  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$ -valued form which satisfies (B.1) or (B.2). Then,  $\mathcal{K}$  is called a  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$  module if it is moreover a real Krein space when endowed with the symmetric form

$$\langle v, w \rangle = \operatorname{Tr} \underbrace{[v, w]_{\mathcal{K}}}_{\in \mathcal{H}_2^t}.$$

**Definition B.2.** In the notation of the previous definition, assume that  $\mathcal{K}$  is a space of  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$ -valued functions defined on a set  $\Omega$ . Then,  $\mathcal{K}$  is a reproducing kernel Krein space if there exists a function K(z, w) defined for  $z, w \in \Omega$  and with the following property

$$\operatorname{Ir} \underbrace{[f(\cdot), K(\cdot, w)p]_{\mathcal{K}}}_{\in \mathcal{H}_{2}^{t}} = \operatorname{Tr} p^{\circledast} f(w), \quad w \in \Omega, \quad p \in \mathcal{H}_{2}^{t},$$
(B.3)

or

$$\operatorname{Tr}\underbrace{[f(\cdot), K(\cdot, w)p]_{\mathcal{K}}}_{\in \mathcal{H}_{2}^{t}} = \operatorname{Tr} p^{[*]}f(w), \quad w \in \Omega, \quad p \in \mathcal{H}_{2}^{t},$$
(B.4)

depending on the chosen adjoint.

**Proposition B.3.** In the previous notation, it holds that

$$[f(\cdot), K(\cdot, w)b]_{\mathcal{K}} = b^{\circledast}f(w), \quad w \in \Omega, \quad b \in \mathcal{H}_2^t$$
(B.5)

or

 $[f(\cdot), K(\cdot, w)b]_{\mathcal{K}} = b^{[*]}f(w), \quad w \in \Omega, \quad b \in \mathcal{H}_2^t$ (B.6)

depending on the chosen adjoint.

*Proof.* We consider the case of the first adjoint; the case of [\*] is treated similarly. From (B.1) we can rewrite (B.3) as

$$\operatorname{Tr} b^{\circledast}[f(\cdot), K(\cdot, w)]_{\mathcal{K}} = \operatorname{Tr} b^{\circledast}f(w), \quad w \in \Omega, \quad b \in \mathcal{H}_{2}^{t}.$$
(B.7)

To conclude we use Corollary 2.15.

These definitions are readily extended to the case of matrix-valued functions with entries in  $\mathcal{H}_2^t$ . As already earlier in Sect. 5, the matrix-valued case already has differences with the scalar case in the quaternionic setting; see [11, p. 1767 (and in particular (62.38)].

# References

- Alpay, D.: Some remarks on reproducing kernel Krein spaces. Rocky Mt. J. Math. 21, 1189–1205 (1991)
- [2] Alpay, D.: Algorithme de Schur, espaces à noyau reproduisant et théorie des systèmes. Panoramas et Synthèses [Panoramas and Syntheses], vol. 6. Société Mathématique de France, Paris (1998)
- [3] Alpay, D., Cho, I.: Certain invertible operator-block matrices induced by C<sup>\*</sup>algebras and scaled hypercomplex numbers. Res. Math. Sci. 10(4), 47 (2023)
- [4] Alpay, D., Cho, I.: Dynamical systems of operators induced by scaled hypercomplex rings. Adv. Appl. Clifford Algebr. 33(3), 33 (2023)
- [5] Alpay, D., Cho, I.: Operators induced by certain hypercomplex systems. Opuscula Math. 43(3), 275–333 (2023)
- [6] Alpay, D., Cho, I.: On indefinite inner product spaces induced by scaled hypercomplex numbers. Preprint 2024 (2024)
- [7] Alpay, D., Cho, I.: On scaled hyperbolic numbers induced by scaled hypercomplex rings. To appear in Pure and Applied Functional Analysis (2024)
- [8] Alpay, D., Cho, I.: Regular functions on the scaled hypercomplex numbers. To appear in Integral Equations Operator Theory (2024)
- [9] Alpay, D., Cho, I.: Schur analysis over the unit spectral ball. Submitted (2024)
- [10] Alpay, D., Colombo, F., Sabadini, I.: Schur functions and their realizations in the slice hyperholomorphic setting. Integral Equ. Oper. Theory 72(2), 253–289 (2012)
- [11] Alpay, D., Colombo, F., Sabadini, I.: Schur analysis in the quaternionic setting: the Fueter regular and the slice regular case. In: Alpay, D. (ed.) Handbook of Operator Theory, vol. 2, pp. 1745–1786. Springer, Basel (2015)
- [12] Alpay, D., Correa-Romero, F., Luna-Elizarrarás, M.E., Shapiro, M.: On the structure of the Taylor series in Clifford and quaternionic analysis. Integral Eq. Oper. Theory 71(3), 311–326 (2011)

- [13] Alpay, D., Correa-Romero, F.M., Luna-Elizarrarás, M.E., Shapiro, M.: Hyperholomorphic rational functions: the Clifford analysis case. Complex Var. Elliptic Equ. 52(1), 59–78 (2007)
- [14] Alpay, D., Dewilde, P., Dym, H.: Lossless inverse scattering and reproducing kernels for upper triangular operators. In: Gohberg, I. (ed.) Extension and Interpolation of Linear Operators and Matrix Functions, Volume 47 of Oper. Theory Adv. Appl., pp. 61–135. Basel, Birkhäuser (1990)
- [15] Alpay, D., Diki, K., Vajiac, M.: New Fueter-like variables associated to the global operator in the quaternionic case. To appear in Publications of the Research Institute for Mathematical Sciences (Kyoto) (2024)
- [16] Alpay, D., Kaptanoğlu, H.T.: Some finite-dimensional backward shift-invariant subspaces in the ball and a related interpolation problem. Integral Equ. Oper. Theory 42, 1–21 (2002)
- [17] Alpay, D., Luna-Elizarrarás, M., Shapiro, M., Struppa, D.C.: Gleason problem, rational functions and spaces of regular functions: the split-quaternion case. Israel J. Math. 226, 319–349 (2018)
- [18] Alpay, D., Shapiro, M.: Problème de Gleason et interpolation pour les fonctions hyper-analytiques. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris 335, 889–894 (2002)
- [19] Alpay, D., Shapiro, M., Volok, D.: Rational hyperholomorphic functions in R<sup>4</sup>.
   J. Funct. Anal. 221(1), 122–149 (2005)
- [20] Azizov, T.Y., Iohvidov, I.S.: Foundations of the theory of linear operators in spaces with indefinite metric. Nauka, Moscow (1986). ((Russian). English translation: Linear operators in spaces with an indefinite metric. John Wiley, New York (1989))
- [21] Bart, H., Gohberg, I., Kaashoek, M.A.: Minimal factorization of matrix and operator functions. In: Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, vol. 1. Birkhäuser, Basel (1979)
- [22] Bart, H., Gohberg, I., Kaashoek, M., Ran, A.: A State Space Approach to Canonical Factorization with Applications, Volume 200 of Operator Theory: Advances and Applications. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel; Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel (2010). (Linear operators and linear systems)
- [23] Bognár, J.: Indefinite Inner Product Spaces. Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete, vol. 78. Springer, Berlin (1974)
- [24] Brewer, J.W., Bunce, J.W., Van Vleck, F.S.: Linear systems over commutative rings. In: Lecture Notes in Pure and Applied Mathematics, vol. 104. Marcel Dekker Inc, New York (1986)
- [25] Colombo, F., Sabadini, I.: On some properties of the quaternionic functional calculus. J. Geom. Anal. 19(3), 601–627 (2009)
- [26] Colombo, F., Sabadini, I.: On the formulations of the quaternionic functional calculus. J. Geom. Phys. 60(10), 1490–1508 (2010)
- [27] Colombo, F., Sabadini, I., Struppa, D.C.: Noncommutative Functional Calculus, Volume 289 of Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser/Springer Basel AG, Basel (2011). (Theory and applications of slice hyperholomorphic functions)
- [28] Colombo, J.F., González-Cervantes, Oscar, Sabadini, Irene: A nonconstant coefficients differential operator associated to slice monogenic functions. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 365(1), 303–318 (2013)
- [29] Delanghe, R.: On regular-analytic functions with values in a Clifford algebra. Math. Ann. 185, 91–111 (1970)

- [30] Dritschel, M., Rovnyak, J.: Extensions Theorems For Contractions on Kreĭn Spaces, Volume 47 of Operator theory: Advances and Applications, pp. 221– 305. Birkhäuser, Basel (1990)
- [31] Dym, H.: J-contractive matrix functions, reproducing kernel Hilbert spaces and interpolation. Published for the Conference Board of the Mathematical Sciences, Washington, DC (1989)
- [32] Fliess, M.: Matrices de Hankel. J. Math. Pures Appl. 9(53), 197–222 (1974)
- [33] Fornasini, E., Marchesini, G.: State-space realization theory of two-dimensional filters. IEEE Trans. Autom. Control AC-21(4), 484-492 (1976)
- [34] Fornasini, E., Marchesini, G.: Doubly-indexed dynamical systems: state-space models and structural properties. Math. Syst. Theory 12(1), 59–72 (1978/79)
- [35] Frazer, R., Duncan, W., Collar, A., et al.: Elementary Matrices and Some Applications to Dynamics and Differential Equations. Macmillan, London (1947)
- [36] Frenkel, I., Libine, M.: Split quaternionic analysis and separation of the series for SL(2, ℝ) and SL(2, ℂ)/SL(2, ℝ). Adv. Math. 228(2), 678–763 (2011)
- [37] Henderson, H., Searle, S.: On deriving the inverse of a sum of matrices. Siam Rev. 23(1), 53–60 (1981)
- [38] Horn, R.A., Johnson, C.R.: Matrix Analysis. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1990). (Corrected reprint of the 1985 original)
- [39] Iohvidov, I.S., Kreĭn, M.G., Langer, H.: Introduction to the Spectral Theory of Operators in Spaces with an Indefinite Metric. Akademie-Verlag, Berlin (1982)
- [40] Libine, M.: An invitation to split quaternionic analysis. In: Hypercomplex Analysis and Applications, Trends Math., pp. 161–180. Basel, Birkhäuser/Springer Basel AG (2011)
- [41] Potapov, V.P.: The multiplicative structure of J-contractive matrix-functions. Trudy Moskow. Mat. Obs. 4, 125–236 (1955). (English translation in: American mathematical society translations (2), vol. 15, p. 131–243 (1960))
- [42] Rudin, W.: Inner functions in the unit ball of  $C^n$ . J. Funct. Anal. **50**(1), 100–126 (1983)
- [43] Schur, I.: Über die Potenzreihen, die im Innern des Einheitkreises beschränkten sind, I. Journal für die Reine und Angewandte Mathematik 147, 205–232 (1917). (English translation in: I. Schur methods in operator theory and signal processing. (Operator theory: Advances and Applications OT 18 (1986), Birkhäuser Verlag), Basel)
- [44] Schur, I.: Über die potenzreihen, die im Innern des Einheitkreises Beschrankt sind, II. Journal für die Reine und Angewandte Mathematik 148, 122–145 (1918). (English translation in: I. Schur methods in operator theory and signal processing. (Operator theory: Advances and Applications OT 18 (1986), Birkhäuser Verlag), Basel)
- [45] Schwartz, L.: Sous espaces hilbertiens d'espaces vectoriels topologiques et noyaux associés (noyaux reproduisants). J. Analyse Math. 13, 115–256 (1964)
- [46] Siegel, C.L.: Symplectic Geometry. Academic Press, New York (1964)
- [47] Sontag, E.D.: On linear systems and noncommutative rings. Math. Syst. Theory 9(4), 327–344 (1975/76)
- [48] Sontag, E.D.: Linear systems over commutative rings: a survey. Ricerche di Automatica 7, 1–34 (1976)

Daniel Alpay and Mihaela Vajiac Schmid College of Science and Technology Chapman University One University Drive Orange CA 92866 USA e-mail: mbvajiac@chapman.edu

Daniel Alpay e-mail: alpay@chapman.edu

Ilwoo Cho Department of Mathematics and Statistics Saint Ambrose University 508 W. Locust St. Davenport IA 52803 USA e-mail: choilwoo@sau.edu

Received: April 24, 2024. Accepted: July 18, 2024.